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AWARDED
BRITISH SAFETY 
COUNCIL SWORD OF 
HONOUR FOR THIRD 
TIME IN FIVE YEARS

14p
ADJUSTED 
EARNINGS 
PER SHARE
UP 45.8%

£295.5M
GROUP TURNOVER
UP 13.0%



Cape PLC is the parent company of a
number of service providing organizations
operating primarily in the oil and gas,
petrochemical and power generation
industries. Cape is headquartered in the
UK and operates in 23 countries worldwide.
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£295.5m
GROUP TURNOVER UP 13.0%
2005 £261.5M

£14.6m
TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT
2005 LOSS OF £1.4M

£12.9m
GROUP OPERATING PROFIT FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL 
ITEMS AND ACQUISITIONS 2005 £7.8M

£13.7m
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BEFORE SCHEME FUNDING 2005 £7.3M

£81.0m
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
UP 26.2% 2005 £64.2M

13.5p
BASIC EPS
2005 NIL PENCE

14p
ADJUSTED BASIC EPS
UP 45.8% 2005 9.6 PENCE
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CAPE IS A MARKET LEADER IN THE PROVISION OF INDUSTRIAL SERVICES WHERE
THE REQUIREMENT FOR QUALITY, RELIABILITY AND SAFETY IS PARAMOUNT.

ASSOCIATED
SERVICES

SPECIALIST
COATING

FIRE
PROTECTION

HIRE & SALES

The provision of a range of
coatings for a variety of structures
including petrochemical plants,
refineries and offshore installations.
This provides surface protection
and the prevention of corrosion 
on bare surfaces or those 
to be insulated or clad.

Projects
- new construction
- plant maintenance
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades

Markets
- power generation 
- offshore oil and gas 
- refineries 
- LNG terminals 
- petrochemicals 
- pharmaceuticals 
- process industries 
- food and beverages 
- ship repair/

module yards

The application of passive fire
protection to a variety of structures
in environments ranging from the
extreme weather conditions in the
North Sea to onshore petrochemical
and other installations with high
exposure to fire risk.

Projects
- new construction
- plant maintenance
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades

Markets
- power generation 
- offshore oil and gas 
- refineries 
- LNG terminals 
- petrochemicals 
- ship repair/

module yards 
- construction industry

Through its Hire & Sales Division,
Cape supplies scaffolding, access
and non-mechanical plant on a 
hire or sales basis to clients in the
construction and engineering
industries and to organizers of
specific entertainment events.

As well as traditional tube, fittings
and boards, Cape Hire offers
system scaffolding, temporary
fencing and hoarding, alloy towers
and a full range of metal and
timber plant.

Projects
- new construction
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades
- entertainment 

events

Markets
- civil engineering 
- industrial sites
- commercial 

building sites 
- entertainment 

venues

In response to client needs, 
the range of industrial services
includes trace heating and asbestos
management. For offshore
installations, services include lifting,
crane operation, abseiling, catering
and logistics. In addition, inspection
services are provided identifying
corrosion, the efficiency of thermal
insulation and refractory linings
and the survey and removal 
of hazardous materials.

Projects
- new construction 
- plant maintenance 
- plant shutdowns 
- plant upgrades

Markets
- offshore oil and gas 
- refineries 
- LNG terminals 
- petrochemicals 
- ship repair/

module yards

CAPE OVERVIEW
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INSULATION

INDUSTRIAL
CLEANING

REFRACTORY
LININGS

ACCESS
SCAFFOLDING

The supply and erection of
scaffolding to enable site operators
and other contractors to have
access to all parts of an industrial
plant. This can be for routine
maintenance, shutdowns, new
construction or other major
projects. Computer aided design
is used where appropriate.

Projects
- new construction
- plant maintenance
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades

Markets
- power generation 
- offshore oil and gas 
- refineries 
- LNG terminals 
- petrochemicals 
- pharmaceuticals 
- process industries 
- ship repair/ 

module yards

The provision of thermal and
acoustic insulation for industrial
applications. Thermal insulation
is provided for temperature
maintenance, personnel protection,
heat conservation and efficient
cryogenic insulation at
temperatures down to –160ºC.

An additional service is the
calculation of heat loss and
provision of infrared equipment
for evaluating thermal insulation
efficiency.

Projects
- new construction
- plant maintenance
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades

Markets
- power generation 
- offshore oil and gas 
- refineries 
- petrochemicals 
- process industries

The provision of a comprehensive
range of cleaning services to
industry in a broad variety of
industrial environments carried
out in a safe and controlled way.

Through its newly-acquired
subsidiary, DBI Group, Cape
provides innovative solutions in the
fields of pipe and vessel cleaning,
surveying and repair. Working
throughout the industrial and
offshore sectors, DBI Group’s
experienced teams use a wide
range of specialist equipment some
of which has been developed and
constructed in-house.

Projects
- new construction
- plant maintenance
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades

Markets
- power generation 
- offshore oil and gas 
- refineries 
- petrochemicals 
- process industries 

The lining of boilers, furnaces,
kilns and high temperature
petrochemical reactors with
materials to withstand 
temperatures in excess 
of 1,000ºC. 

This activity also incorporates 
the business of RB Hilton, 
and offers design, supply 
and installation services.

Projects
- new construction
- plant maintenance
- plant shutdowns
- plant upgrades

Markets
- power 

generation 
- refineries 
- LNG terminals 
- petrochemicals 
- process 

industries 
- smelting/metal 

processing  

Working throughout the lifecycle of the asset: from
construction, through commissioning, maintainence,
upgrades, shutdown and decommissioning, Cape aims 
to provide best value solutions, tailored to meet the needs
of its clients. Cape’s services can be supplied individually 
or as a seamlessly integrated multidisciplinary package.
Cape’s commitment is to its clients, working continuously 
to improve delivery through its structured approach 
to the management of safety, quality and cost.

Cape is proud of its international reputation and ability to
deliver services locally through its network of offices and
depots in the UK. Cape’s international activities are delivered
through overseas subsidiaries and branches, providing 
the local knowledge and presence required to respond
effectively to clients’ needs.
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CAPE INTERNATIONALLY

SCOTTISH POWER
GENERATION LTD

2006 – 2016 Cape has secured a 
10 year contract with an estimated value
of £78 million to provide shared services
including scaffolding, access, insulation,
asbestos management, industrial cleaning
and surface preparation to the principal
power generating stations at Longannet
and Cockenzie located on the River Forth
in Scotland.

KAZAKHSTAN
IGS SICIM

2006 – to date Through its branch in
Kazakhstan, Cape provides insulation,
scaffolding and painting services to 
its client IGS SICIM on the Kashagan
development at Karabatan. The
contract is valued at c. US$7.4 million.

CAPE IS AN INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION WITH A PRESENCE IN 
23 COUNTRIES. OUR NETWORK OF OFFICES PROVIDES THE OPPORTUNITY 
TO SHARE EXPERTISE, DEVELOP MARKETS AND SOURCE HIGHLY SKILLED
WORKFORCE AROUND THE WORLD.

+
+

+

+
+ +

+
+++

+

Main UK
offices
Aberdeen
Alloa
Billingham 
Bilston
Brigg 
Doncaster 
Ellesmere Port
Elsham
Paisley
St Albans
Wakefield
Warrington

Client list includes
Abu Dhabi Gas Industries
Alba
Alcan
Amec Clough
Aramco
Bapco
Bechtel
BG Group
BP
British Energy
British Nuclear Group
CB&I
Consolidated Contractors
Company International (CCC)
Chevron Texaco
Chiyoda
ConocoPhillips
Corus
Doosan Babcock
Drax Power
EDF
Entrepose
Exxon Mobil (Esso)

Foster Wheeler
Heerema
Huntsman
Kellogg JGC
Inco Management
Malta Shipyards
National Grid
Nerefco
Novartis
Qatar Petroleum
Qatargas LNG
Parsons Fluor Daniel
Petronas
PX
Sabic
Safco
Samsung Engineering
Scottish Power Generation Limited
Shell
Technip
Toyo Engineering

UK
3,199 EMPLOYEES

++
++
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SAUDI ARABIA
YANSAB

2006 – to date  Through contracts with
Saudi Archirodon, Sinopec and a Technip
and IREM joint venture, RB Hilton Saudi
Arabia will provide scaffolding, thermal
insulation, refractory and perlite filling
on the YANSAB Olefins 1 Complex
being built on the west coast of Saudi
Arabia. The combined value of these
contracts is in excess of US$30 million.

NEW CALEDONIA INCO
GORO NICKEL PROJECT

2006 – 2008  Cape provides scaffolding
and access to the US$1.8 billion Inco Goro
Nickel Project located in New Caledonia, 
a French overseas territorial community.
The contract will require Cape to manage
and construct more than 2,000 tonnes 
of scaffold over an 18 month period with 
a site team peaking at 300 personnel.

+
+

+
++

+

+

+

+
+

+
Worldwide Locations
United Kingdom Wakefield
Algeria Algiers
Australia Perth
Azerbaijan Baku
Bahrain Sitra
Brunei Kuala Belait
Egypt Cairo
Indonesia Jakarta
Ireland Dublin
Kazakhstan Aturau
Kuwait Safat
Libya Tripoli
Malaysia Kuala Lumpur 
Malta Ta’Xbiex
New Caledonia 
Oman Rusail
Philippines Manilla
Qatar Doha
Sakhalin Island Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk
Saudi Arabia Jubail
Singapore
Thailand Sriracha
United Arab Emirates Abu Dhabi

FAR EAST AND
PACIFIC RIM
748 EMPLOYEES

+

++ + +

+

MIDDLE EAST
2,518 EMPLOYEES

CIS
1,220 
EMPLOYEES
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2006 has seen a step-change in Cape’s fortunes and
aspirations. On the operational and financial front, 
the Group has delivered an excellent set of results. 

Following the approval of its ground-breaking asbestos
Scheme of Arrangement in June 2006, Cape also
completed the disposal of its Cleton business in July and
the acquisition of DBI Group in October. On 23 April
2007, Cape’s shareholders approved a £70 million
placing with institutional shareholders. With a clear
strategy and a strong order book, Cape is extremely 
well placed for future growth. 

Cape specializes in the provision of scaffolding,
insulation, fire protection, cleaning and other essential
services to the energy sector. Cape aims to build on its
success to date by strengthening the range of services 
it offers and by undertaking work only where it can 
be done to the highest quality of health, safety and
environmental standards, where Cape is confident that
the work can be delivered on time within acceptable risk
parameters and without compromising its ethical policies.

RESULTS FOR 2006
Group turnover rose during the year to £295.5 million
(2005: £261.5 million), an increase of 13.0%. Total
operating profit for the year was £14.6 million (2005:
loss of £1.4 million). Operating profit from continuing
operations before exceptional items and acquisitions
increased by 65.4% to £12.9 million (2005: £7.8 million).
Basic earnings per share increased to 13.5 pence from 
nil pence in 2005. This marks the third consecutive year
in which Cape has delivered growth in turnover and
underlying profitability.

2006 HAS SEEN A STEP-CHANGE IN CAPE’S
FORTUNES AND ASPIRATIONS. ON THE
OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL FRONT, 
THE GROUP HAS DELIVERED AN EXCELLENT
SET OF RESULTS. 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENTCHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

GROUP TURNOVER 
£M

£295.5m

£12.9m

GROUP TURNOVER UP 13%
2005 £261.5M

GROUP OPERATING PROFIT (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)
BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS AND ACQUISITIONS
2005 £7.8M

06
05
04
03
02

296
262

239
232

225

13.5p
BASIC EPS
2005 NIL PENCE
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BOARD DEVELOPMENTS
The appointment in July 2006 of Martin May as Chief
Executive with the task of implementing our ambitious
and acquisitive growth strategy has given further
momentum to the Group. 

I took over from Martin as Non-Executive Chairman and
was joined on 1 September 2006 by David Robins, 
a partner at city law firm Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP
and a former director of Hornby Plc, whose corporate
finance expertise adds strength and depth to the Board.

On 1 April 2007 Sean O’Connor rejoined the Board
having previously been a Non-Executive Director of the
Company from 1996 to 2004. He is currently a director
of a number of private and public companies including
Graphite Enterprise Trust PLC, Sportingbet PLC and
Trillium Venture Developments.

During the year Paul Ainley and John Pool retired from
the Board.

The Board now comprises:

David McManus – Non-Executive Chairman
Martin May – Chief Executive
Mike Reynolds – Group Finance Director
David Robins – Non-Executive Director
Sean O’Connor – Non-Executive Director

OUR PEOPLE
We recognize that the continuing dedication, quality and
enthusiasm of all Cape’s employees is the cornerstone 
of our success. Whilst rapid organic growth and the
assimilation of new businesses bring new skills and faces
into the mix, they also bring challenges. There is a real
drive to bring all our people together as one team taking
the best of what each of us has to offer and harnessing
it to deliver a consistent top quality service to all our
clients. On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the
Group’s management, staff and employees at all levels
worldwide for their hard work and commitment
throughout 2006.

David McManus
Chairman
22 May 2007

AVERAGE NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES WORLDWIDE 

06
05
04
03
02

8,002
7,686

6,665
6,094
6,034



UK
125MPH
MAX HURRICANE FORCE
WIND SPEEDS

14 DAYS ON
12 HOURS A DAY

56
SKILLS AND SERVICES

DRAX POWER LIMITED

2006 – 2011  Cape provides
maintenance services, including
the provision of access, insulation
and industrial cleaning at the
Drax Power Station in North
Yorkshire.

BRITISH ENERGY

2005 – 2010  Cape provides 
a full range of access and
maintenance services to 
British Energy on five of its 
nine power stations.



NORTH SEA
BP MAGNUS
Working from Cape’s Aberdeen and Great Yarmouth depots,
Cape’s offshore workforce is required to carry out a multitude
of different skills in addition to their core trades. All personnel
working offshore undergo stringent safety tests, including 
a 4 day offshore survival course. Cape has been working
offshore for blue chip clients such as BP for over 20 years for
whom the ability to perform such a wide range of skills safely
to the highest standard in harsh conditions is paramount.

8
SAFETY AWARDS

11.5M
MAX WAVES

–10°C
WINDCHILL OR LOWER

HUNTSMAN
PETROCHEMICALS LTD 

2005 – 2009  Cape provides
integrated maintenance 
services including access, 
insulation, painting, cleaning
and grounds maintenance 
services across all Huntsman 
assets in the Teesside region.

BRITISH SAFETY
COUNCIL AWARD

In recognition of our outstanding
health and safety achievements in
2006, Cape received the British
Safety Council’s 5 Star Award.
This is the fifth time in six years
that Cape has won this award.



MIDDLE EAST

TRAINING
MATERIALS 
TRANSLATED INTO 
7 LANGUAGES

1,000+ 
EMPLOYEES 

BAPCO
BAHRAIN

2006 – to date  RB Hilton
provides thermal insulation 
and scaffolding services to 
the Bapco Low Sulphur Diesel
Production Project. 

GASCO
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

2005 – 2010  Cape East LLC’s
multi-discipline maintenance
contract with Gasco includes
insulation, painting and scaffolding
services on LNG plants at Asab, 
Bu Hasa and Ruwais in the United
Arab Emirates.

37°C - 42°C+ 
AVERAGE SUMMER
TEMPERATURE RANGE



QATAR
RAS LAFFAN
The vast Ras Laffan industrial city on the north east coast 
of Qatar is home to 6 major industrial operations. Working 
in desert conditions, Cape’s operatives have to deal not only
with the soaring temperatures and dust storms but also with
specific technical challenges created by the heat. For example,
to ensure coatings cure properly special control measures are
put in place before insulation materials are applied. Work is
often done at night when temperatures are lower. 

100KM2+ 
INDUSTRIAL SITE

ISO 14001 
ENVIRONMENTAL
ACCREDITATION

RASGAS LNG PLANT
QATAR

2000 – to date Cape have been
the term maintenance contractor
for insulation and painting
services from the commencement
of the plant in 2000, with the
current contract covering both
onshore and offshore work. 

WORKING IN HOT
CLIMATES

The Company has developed
procedures and controls to
minimize the risks of employees
suffering from the effects of heat
including potentially serious
conditions of heat stress.
Precautions include training, risk
assessment, team responsibility,
cooling and the provision of fluids.



CIS 

UP TO 12,000 
MAN HOURS A DAY
PROVIDED 
6 DAYS A WEEK

PARSONS FLUOR DANIEL
KAZAKHSTAN

Parsons Fluor Daniel has awarded
Cape a further insulation and
scaffolding contract at the 
Tengiz SGP site. The new contract
will mean a doubling of Cape’s
Tengiz labour force to 250.

FLUOR DANIEL/
EXXONMOBIL 
DEKASTRI, RUSSIA

Cape has been awarded an
extension to its existing
scaffolding, painting and fire
proofing contract with the
addition of management
responsibility for local insulation
sub contractors. 

SUB ZERO 
TEMPERATURES
5 MONTHS
OF THE YEAR

COMMONWEALTH
OF INDEPENDENT
STATES



SAKHALIN ISLAND
SAKHALIN II LNG
Cape’s 1,000 strong workforce (expected to peak at 1,200
during 2007) on Sakhalin Island and the edges of Siberia must
deal with sub zero temperatures for 5 months of the year. 
To combat these extreme conditions, Cape ensures its
personnel are trained in survival techniques as well as their
specialist trades. Cape runs the largest training school on the
island and provides industry-wide accredited courses for its own
operatives and others. The environment also provides specific
challenges to the logistics of moving plant and scaffolding.

2 MILLION 
MAN HOURS WITHOUT A LOST TIME
INCIDENT TO FEBRUARY 2007

–24°C TO +10°C 
AVERAGE ANNUAL
TEMPERATURE RANGE

10 NATIONALITIES 
WORKING ON A SINGLE PROJECT

SAKHALIN II LNG PROJECT
SAKHALIN ISLAND, RUSSIA

Cape is supporting the onshore field
works and offshore supply of materials
and equipment, providing common
user scaffolding, insulation, fire
protection and refractory services 
on the Sakhalin II LNG Project for
CTSD, a joint venture between the
Chiyoda and Toyo Engineering
Corporations from Japan.

SAKHALIN HEALTH &
SAFETY MILESTONE

In February 2007 the 
operations on Sakhalin Island
achieved 2 million man hours
without a Time Lost Incident.
This is a considerable
accomplishment considering 
the levels of manpower working
on the project.
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Cape has enjoyed another year of strong organic growth
and financial performance. Not only has Cape produced
another strong set of results, it has delivered on its
commitment to shareholders of substantially de-risking
the business by implementing the asbestos Scheme of
Arrangement, and has also undertaken its first acquisition
since 1999. These results confirm Cape’s position as one
of the leading international providers of essential support
services to the energy sector.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Turnover for the year from continuing operations
(including the Group’s share of joint ventures but excluding
acquisitions) was £270.7 million (2005: £229.8 million),
an increase of 17.8%. Turnover from the Cleton business
sold in July 2006, amounted to £21.5 million. DBI Group,
which was acquired in October 2006, generated £3.5
million of turnover by the year end. Turnover from all
operations, including the Group’s share of joint ventures,
was up 13.0% to £295.7 million (2005: £261.8 million).

Turnover in the UK increased organically by 18.1%, from
£165.9 million to £196.0 million. Similar levels of growth
were achieved in the rest of the world, with turnover 
up 19.4% from £58.8 million to £70.2 million. 

Total operating profit for the year was £14.6 million
(2005: loss of £1.4 million). Operating profits from
continuing operations (including the Group’s share of
joint ventures but excluding acquisitions and exceptional
items) increased by £5.0 million or 62.5% to £13.0
million (2005: £8.0 million). Whilst the discontinued
Cleton business contributed £0.2 million, the newly
acquired DBI Group generated £0.6 million of profit
before the amortization of goodwill of £0.2 million in the
ten week period following completion of the acquisition.

In the UK, profits from continuing operations, before 
the deduction of head office costs of £2.7 million (2005:
£1.8 million) and industrial disease costs of £3.4 million
(2005: £4.8 million), were up 10.4% to £8.5 million
(2005: £7.7 million). In the rest of the world, profits from
continuing operations, including the Group’s share of

CAPE HAS ENJOYED ANOTHER YEAR OF
STRONG ORGANIC GROWTH AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

£13.7m

£81.0m

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BEFORE SCHEME FUNDING 2005 £7.3M

SHAREHOLDER FUNDS
2005 £64.2M

£14.6m
TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT 
2005 £1.4M LOSS

GROUP OPERATING PROFIT (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)
BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS AND ACQUISITIONS £M

12.9
7.8

5.8
3.6

5.0

GROUP OPERATING PROFIT (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)
BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS AND ACQUISITIONS £M

06
05
04
03
02
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joint ventures, rose to £11.0 million (2005: £7.0 million)
an increase of 57.1%.

There have been no further exceptional costs incurred in
relation to the Scheme following its coming into effect
on 14 June 2006 and a provision of £1 million which had
been held against further Scheme costs has been released.

One of the key performance indicators by which the
Directors measure the Group’s performance is its return
on managed assets. Before exceptional items, the
Group’s continuing operating businesses delivered a
return on managed assets comfortably in excess of the
25% target set by the Directors. For these purposes, the
Directors define managed assets as tangible fixed assets
plus net current assets excluding cash, borrowings and
corporate tax balances.

The net charge to the profit and loss account for
industrial disease claims was £3.4 million (2005: 
£4.8 million). One of the benefits of the Scheme,
however, is that asbestos related Scheme claims are 
now paid directly from the fund. Although Cape has 
an obligation to top up the fund to the extent that the
triennial assessments show there is a shortfall, cash has
been freed up to invest in the business and drive growth.

Net cash generated from operating activities before
Scheme funding was £13.7 million (2005: £7.3 million),
an increase of £6.4 million. Although the Group
continues to generate cash, the increase in activity across
the business, the funding of the acquisition of DBI Group
and the transfer of cash to the Scheme fund have
resulted in an increased level of cash outflow. After
financing, including the negotiation of a new bank
facility and the repayment of borrowings, the Group 
saw a net cash outflow of £16.6 million (2005: inflow
£22.4 million). The Group ended the year with net debt
of £21.1 million (2005: funds £23.7 million). 

Another key performance indicator by which the
Directors measure the Group’s performance is growth 

in earnings per share. Basic earnings per share (‘EPS’) 
was 13.5 pence (2005: nil pence). The adjusted basic 
EPS was 14.0 pence (2005: 9.6 pence), an increase 
of 45.8% against a 2006 target of 12.5%.

The tax charge for the year was £3.1 million (2005: credit
of £1.0 million). The effective rate of tax for the Group
was 21.5%. If the tax on profits arising from the sale of
the Cleton business were to be excluded, the effective
rate of tax would have been 16.9%.

Shareholders’ funds increased from £64.2 million in 2005
to £81.0 million. The increase was due principally to the
significant growth in retained earnings and also to an
improvement in the actuarial valuation of the pension
schemes’ surplus.

A dividend is not being proposed (2005: Nil).

FORWARD ORDER BOOK
Cape continued to win significant new contract awards
and renewals throughout 2006. As at 31 December
2006, the Group’s order book showed that approximately
70% of budgeted Group turnover for 2007 was already
underpinned with firm contracts. There is also clear
visibility of a substantial proportion of anticipated 
2008 turnover. 

Notable contract successes in 2006 included:
• a £78 million multi-disciplinary contract over ten years

with Scottish Power Generation Limited on the
Longannet and Cockenzie Power Stations;

• a £10 million maintenance contract renewal over 
five years with Drax Power Limited;

• a £4 million access scaffolding contract on the first
phase of the South Hook LNG Terminal to complement
other work already won on the site by Cape;

• a US$30 million multi-disciplinary contract for SABIC 
on the Yanbu complex;

• further contracts in Saudi Arabia with a combined
value of c. US$19.1 million on the Rabigh,
Khursaniyah, Juaymah and Sharq III plants; and»

1 Cape’s international activities
provide knowledge and presence
at a local level to respond
effectively to client’s needs.

2 Cape’s operations on Sakhalin
Island continue to excel in health
and safety matters.

1

2
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• contracts in the UAE and Qatar with a combined 
value of c. US$23 million on the Archirodon NGL III
Project, the Dolphin Project at Ras Laffan, Ruwais, 
and Umm Said.

We are also pleased to announce the following
significant contract awards in early 2007:
• a £10 million maintenance contract renewal over five

years with RWE Npower PLC at the Didcot A and B
power stations; 

• a £7.5 million maintenance contract renewal over three
years with RWE Npower PLC at the Aberthaw power
station which has been won from the former incumbent
provider, Interserve Industrial Services Limited; 

• a significant new maintenance contract for up to 
nine years with John Wood Group PLC on the Shell 
St Fergus and Mossmorran terminals in Scotland; 

• seven other access, insulation and cleaning contracts in
the UK with a combined value of in excess of £27 million; 

• in the UK, a large project for two major players in the
nuclear decommissioning field;

• a US$8.0 million insulation contract in Qatar for
Descon Engineering; and 

• a US$2.6 million insulation contract on six floating
production, storage and offloading (FPSO) modules 
to be built for ConocoPhillips Phase II development 
in the Bohai Sea off the north-east coast of China.

DISPOSAL OF THE CLETON BUSINESS
On 20 July 2006, Cape completed the disposal of the
business and assets of Cleton, its operating business based

in the Netherlands, Germany and Belgium, to SGB Group
Limited. The terms of the disposal provided for a cash
payment of £5.4 million, representing a premium to net
assets. After recycling to the profit and loss account the
goodwill previously taken to reserves, there was an overall
loss on the sale of £1.6 million. Since the sale, however,
Cape has also disposed of the three freehold premises used
by the Cleton business for £2.9 million after expenses giving
a profit of £1.8 million. The overall effect of the transaction
was a profit of £0.2 million arising on the sale of the
business, the assets and the properties. More importantly, the
disposal had a beneficial effect from a cash flow perspective.

The sale of the Cleton business, which in the period to
20 July 2006 generated turnover of £21.5 million, and
contributed profits before tax of £0.2 million, is in line
with the Group’s strategy of focussing on core markets
where the return on managed assets, rate of growth 
in operating profit and cash generation justify Cape’s
presence.

ACQUISITION OF DBI GROUP
On 18 October 2006, Cape completed the acquisition of
DBI Group Limited and its subsidiaries DBI Industrial
Services Limited and DBI Offshore Services Limited (‘DBI
Group’). DBI Group operates across the UK and provides
onshore and offshore specialist cleaning services to a
number of large blue chip clients in the pharmaceutical,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW CONTINUED

2 DBI Group brings an additional
level of technical specialization to
Cape’s existing industrial cleaning
services.

1 2

1 In response to client’s needs Cape
offers a range of specialist solutions as
part of its overall service. 
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oil, petrochemical and manufacturing industries. Clients
include BASF, Bluewater Services, BP, Cadbury Schweppes,
Corus, Dow Corning, Ineos Chlor, Maersk, Mitsui
Babcock and Total. 

DBI Group is an excellent fit for Cape as we have a
number of significant clients in common, a similarly
exacting approach to matters of health and safety and a
well matched geographic footprint. DBI Group brings an
additional level of technical specialization to Cape’s existing
industrial cleaning services. We expect the combination
to bring immediate benefits to both businesses.

The initial consideration for the acquisition (including
expenses) was £11.0 million and, subject to DBI Group
meeting earnings growth targets over the next two years,
up to a further £7.25 million will be payable. The initial
consideration has been paid in cash and the additional
consideration will be satisfied by a mixture of cash, loan
notes, Cape shares and options over Cape shares. 

Since 18 October 2006, DBI Group has generated
turnover of £3.5 million and contributed profits before
tax of £0.6 million before goodwill amortization of 
£0.2 million and £0.5 million to the Group's operating
cash flow. The Board has recently approved new
investment in plant and machinery for the business of
£1.0 million for 2007. It is anticipated that this, along
with a further strengthening of the management team, 
will result in significantly increased growth in 2007.

FINANCE 
At the time of the DBI Group acquisition Cape also
secured a new £60 million five year committed facility
from Barclays Bank Plc and Bank of Scotland, Corporate.
The facility comprises a term loan of up to £13 million 
to fund the acquisition of DBI Group and revolving credit
and other facilities totalling £47 million for working
capital and other purposes. The new facility, which is 
on improved terms, replaces the previous Barclays facility
other than in respect of the £15 million term loan used
to part fund the Scheme, which remains in place and 
is unamended.

DBI GROUP IS AN EXCELLENT FIT FOR CAPE 
AS WE HAVE A NUMBER OF SIGNIFICANT
CLIENTS IN COMMON, A SIMILARLY EXACTING
APPROACH TO MATTERS OF HEALTH AND
SAFETY AND A WELL MATCHED GEOGRAPHIC
FOOTPRINT.  

PENSIONS
The Group operates two major pension schemes in the
UK: one is a defined benefit scheme and the other a
defined contribution (‘Stakeholder’) scheme. The assets
of the defined benefit scheme are held in trustee
administered funds. 

Independent actuaries have updated the April 2004
valuation of the defined benefit schemes to 31 December
2006. The present value of the defined benefit pension
schemes’ liabilities is £102.7 million (2005: £108.2 million).
The market value of the assets is £118.2 million 
(2005: £115.7 million). The related deferred tax liability
of £4.6 million (2005: £2.2 million) leaves a net pension
asset of £10.9 million (2005: £5.3 million).

One of the Group’s smaller schemes, the Works Staff
pension scheme for ex-Calsil employees, commenced
wind up on 12 June 2006. The assets of the scheme
were £1.7 million and liabilities £1.1 million on an 
FRS 17 basis. However, on a wind up basis, the liabilities
exceeded the FRS 17 liabilities resulting in a charge 
to the profit and loss account of £0.6 million.

STRATEGY
Cape’s strategy can be summarized as follows.
• Overall objectives

The Group’s overall objectives are:
– to be the market leader in the provision of essential

support services for the energy sector; and
– to achieve above average returns for our

shareholders when compared to our peers.

• Specific objectives for Cape PLC 
In order to achieve these objectives the specific
objectives of the Company are:
– to achieve target earnings per share growth year 

on year;
– to achieve a minimum return on managed assets 

of 25%;
– to provide adequate funding to allow for the growth

of the business;»



18 CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW CONTINUED

– to provide for management succession and
development across the Group;

– following the first Scheme of Arrangement review
(due in 2008), to pay dividends to shareholders;

– to meet the Group’s obligations fully with respect 
to the Scheme of Arrangement; and

– to manage the defined benefit pensions schemes 
to minimize the risk to the Group.

• Market profile
In establishing its market profile, the Group will seek to:
– unify the business under the trading name ‘Cape’ 

and to invest in and establish a strong brand and
common house style; and 

– sustain a behavioural profile built on performance
and integrity; on quality services, provided to the
highest industry safety and environmental standards.

• Activities
– Cape will continue to provide a broad range of

essential support services for the Energy, Power
Generation, Process Engineering and similar sectors
characterized by relatively high entry costs, technical
expertise, specific workforce competencies, and 
a high quality and safety profile.

– Cape will seek to engage as far as possible with end
users looking for long term business relationships
having similar quality and safety cultures who
operate globally within our footprint.

– Cape will aim to service client needs throughout asset
life cycles, by providing innovative and cost effective
solutions during initial project build, maintenance,
extension of asset life and decommissioning.

• Acquisitions 
There are two circumstances where the Group will look
to make acquisitions. These are:
– to establish another discipline quickly that cannot

readily be achieved through normal organic growth; or
– to add businesses which can be ‘bolted on’ to

existing operations to consolidate an existing market
or extend our footprint within an existing region.

SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT
Following its approval by the overwhelming majority of
creditors who voted on the Scheme, and its subsequent
sanction by the High Court, the Scheme became effective
on 14 June 2006. The Scheme provides for the long-term
funding of the majority of asbestos-related claims arising
out of the historical activities of the Group in the UK. 

The Directors believe that the Scheme is a major step 
in de-risking Cape. It leaves the Group better able to
generate the resources needed to secure the continued
payment of compensation to claimants and removes 
a significant obstacle to Cape’s growth.

Given the outlook for the Group and assuming that future
settlements broadly follow recent history, we remain
confident that any required top-ups to the Scheme fund
and (insofar as there are any) future claims outside the
Scheme, to the extent not matched by insurance
recoveries, can be met from operating cash flows.

HEALTH AND SAFETY, AND TRAINING
Cape is absolutely committed to ensuring that all of our
people can work safely at all times. So despite another
very demanding year operationally, we were pleased that
the Group maintained its excellent health and safety
record. Training and safety go hand in glove so none 
of this could have been achieved without significant
investment in training schemes and resources right across
the Group. Training in this context extends not only to
existing employees but also to new employees. We have
established and continue to invest in training centres in
each of our regions throughout the world. Over the last
year the Board approved a doubling of our investment 
in training in the Philippines and the establishment of 
a new facility on Sakhalin Island. Many of our clients
demand high levels of local labour content. Cape has 
a proven track record of training local workforces to
exacting standards across the breadth of our operations.

With the ultimate intention over time of incurring zero
lost time incidents, the target in 2006 was to achieve 
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an accident frequency rate (‘AFR’) of 0.12 per 100,000 
man hours or less across the Group. In fact, we achieved
an AFR of 0.08 (2005: 0.07). The number of RIDDOR
accidents (Reporting of Injuries Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations 1995) for the Group increased
from 15 in 2005 to 18 in 2006. The overall trend, however,
remains downwards with the AFR more than halved since
2002 and the number of RIDDOR accidents down by
40% in spite of a 55% increase in the number of man
hours worked. Notably, on Sakhalin Island, Cape has
recently completed 2 million man hours without incurring
a lost time incident and in March 2007 Cape’s workforce
in the Philippines completed 3 million man hours without
a lost time incident on the Shell Malampaya Project.

For the second year in succession, Cape has been awarded
the British Safety Council’s 5 Star Award and the British
Safety Council’s prestigious Sword of Honour. The Sword
of Honour is one of only 40 awarded worldwide by the
British Safety Council and recognizes organizations that
have implemented safety systems that are among the
best in the world. This is the third time in five years that
a Sword of Honour has been awarded to Cape.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT – £70 MILLION PLACING 
On 23 April 2007, Cape’s shareholders approved the
placing by Collins Stewart Europe Limited of 26,923,077
Ordinary Shares of 25p each at a placing price of £2.60
per share raising approximately £70 million before expenses.
The placing price represented a discount of approximately
3.2 per cent to the closing middle market price of an
Ordinary Share on 21 March 2007, the day before the
placing was announced. The placing shares represented
approximately 32.2 per cent of the Company’s issued
share capital immediately prior to the placing. The Directors
intend to use the proceeds of the placing to pursue a
number of potential acquisition opportunities, namely:
• a mechanical and electrical business which would

increase bundling capacity; 
• a business with existing contracts in nuclear

decommissioning; and
• a high-end cleaning business in order to consolidate

the Group’s investment in the DBI Group.

Although there are no current negotiations in respect of
any of the alternative acquisition opportunities identified
above and there is thus no certainty that any of these
opportunities will be executed, the Directors believe that
each of the above acquisition opportunities would, if
completed, strengthen the Group’s product offering and
would have the potential to add significant shareholder
value in the next 12 months.

OUTLOOK
Cape now has a demonstrable track record of growing 
a profitable business. The Group’s strategy is designed 
to ensure that this continues. Cape’s strong growth in
recent years has been generated organically. During 2007
we are keen to exploit demand for our services in North
Africa and to strengthen our position in Kazakhstan.
From this stable platform and with the support of its key
stakeholders, Cape is now also well positioned to make
acquisitions that fit within its strategic criteria.

Against a background of sustained high energy prices
and with the market for industrial support services as
strong as at any time in recent years, Cape is ideally
positioned to prosper. During 2007, Cape’s Directors 
will also decide whether, and if so when, to return 
to the Official List of the London Stock Exchange.

Cape ended 2006 with activity levels at a record high and
is currently trading significantly ahead of management’s
expectations. The Directors have every reason to look
forward to continuing growth in 2007 and beyond. 

Martin K May
Chief Executive
22 May 2007

1 Cape is absolutely committed to
ensuring its people can work safely
at all times.

2 Cape intends to strengthen its
position in Kazakhstan during 2007.

1 2
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The Group’s 2006 combined accident frequency rate
(AFR) of 0.08 (per 100,000 man hours) is a recognizable
achievement and one which we believe to be amongst
the best within our business sector. It is also pleasing to
note that over the past five years there has been a
significant reduction in the AFR, notwithstanding the fact
that over this period the total number of man hours and
average number of employees has increased by over 50%.

HEALTH AND SAFETY AWARDS
In recognition of our outstanding health and safety
standards and achievements during 2006, Cape received
a number of awards and commendations both from
clients and external bodies. 

Cape was again awarded the British Safety Council’s 
5 Star Award for health and safety, the fifth time in the
past six years and was further delighted to receive the
British Safety Council’s prestigious Sword of Honour 
for the third time in five years. 

The Sword of Honour is one of only 40 awarded
worldwide by the British Safety Council and recognizes
organizations that have implemented safety systems that
are among the best in the world. Winning the Sword 
of Honour is a difficult but worthwhile achievement 
and reinforces Cape’s continued leading edge in health
and safety matters.

Other notable awards in 2006 included ‘Supplier of the
Year’ from blue-chip client Alcan for their Lynemouth site,
with particular recognition given to health and safety
excellence and the award of ‘Overall Best Contractors’
Safety Performance’ from Scottish Power for the work
carried out on the Unit 1 overhaul at the Longannet
Power Station, which included the erecting and
dismantling of 100 miles of scaffolding tube, boards and
fittings, the provision of insulation, asbestos removal,
industrial cleaning, rope access and the removal of over
200 tonnes of fly ash from confined spaces. 

IN SPITE OF CAPE’S EVER EXPANDING AND
DEMANDING OPERATIONS, THE GROUP
CONTINUES TO MAINTAIN AN EXCELLENT
HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE 
AND RECORD. 

HEALTH, SAFETY AND THE ENVIRONMENT

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE 
FOR LAST FIVE YEARS

0.08

5
ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE 
PER 100,000 MAN HOURS

STAR AWARD FROM
BRITISH SAFETY COUNCIL

06
05
04
03
02

0.08
0.07

0.16
0.16

0.20

MAN HOURS FOR LAST FIVE YEARS (MILLION)

06
05
04
03
02

23.2
21.1

16.9
15.6

14.9



CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006 21

ANOTHER NOTABLE SUCCESS OVERSEAS
OCCURRED ON SAKHALIN ISLAND WHERE 
THE MILESTONE OF 2 MILLION MAN HOURS
WITHOUT A TIME LOST INCIDENT WAS
ACHIEVED IN FEBRUARY 2007.

Overseas, awards were presented to a number of our
operations in the Middle East and Pacific Rim regions, 
the most recent awarded in April 2007 in recognition 
of the accomplishment of 500,000 man hours without 
a lost time incident on the Goro Nickel Modular
construction in New Caledonia.

Another notable success overseas occurred on Sakhalin
Island where the milestone of 2 million man hours without
a time lost incident was achieved in February 2007. This
is a considerable accomplishment taking into account the
increased levels of manpower now working on the project.

TRAINING
Cape places great emphasis on achieving high levels 
of skill and competency in its workforce, especially
important in regions where formal regulatory training
and certification does not currently exist.

Through the development of bespoke training courses
and initiatives where suitable alternatives are not available
within the industry or region, Cape ensures that both its
local and travelling employees are able to meet the highest
standards in health and safety in whatever conditions and
situations they face. Courses also include management
training to ensure that effective communications exist 
to disseminate the knowledge required.

To meet the growing demand for in-depth training, 
Cape continues to develop its training schools. During 2006,
a new school was opened on Sakhalin Island primarily to
develop the skills of the local workforce for the application
of a new high-tech insulation cladding system.

HEALTH SURVEILLANCE 
Following on from a successful pilot scheme in 2005,
Cape has extended its mobile health surveillance
programme to cover all employees in the UK. Cape
operates on a large number of sites with a wide
geographical spread and servicing its employees’ health
needs is not a straightforward matter. With the health»

1  The Sword of Honour 
was one of several awards
presented to Cape in 2006.

2  The training school opened
on Sakhalin Island joins those
all ready established in the
U.A.E., Philippines and UK.

3 & 4  The mobile health
surveillance programme allows
an occupational health nurse 
to visit all Cape’s UK sites.

1

2

3

4
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CAPE SEEKS TO ENSURE THAT BOTH ITS LOCAL
AND TRAVELLING EMPLOYEES ARE ABLE TO
MEET THE HIGHEST STANDARDS IN HEALTH
AND SAFETY IN WHATEVER CONDITIONS AND
SITUATIONS THEY FACE.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND THE ENVIRONMENT CONTINUED

SAFETY IN
SCAFFOLDING

Cape has a reputation for
providing quality scaffolding 
in the most challenging
environments. Cape’s world-
leading health and safety
standards are continually being
improved in all aspects from
innovative use of equipment 
to externally endorsed in-house
training.

Fall Arrest Equipment
The safety of our scaffolders 
is paramount and, in addition 
to the standard personal
protective equipment (‘PPE’),
Cape issues scaffolders with
twin-tailed lanyards. This allows
scaffolders to remain attached
to a suitable anchorage point
at all times when working at

heights thereby significantly
reducing the potential consequences
of an accidental fall.

Safe System at Work
The UK scaffolders’ improved 
safe system of work (SG4:05
Preventing falls in Scaffolding and
Falsework) was introduced during
2006 by the implementation of 
a comprehensive training course,
specifically developed by Cape.
This training not only provides
tuition for the basic method of
safe erection/dismantling, but 
also includes some relatively new
innovations within the industry,
including the use of ring clamps,
advanced guardrail systems,
inertia reel blocks and tensioned
‘running’ lines, in addition to
emergency rescue procedures to
be put into practice in the event
of an arrested fall occurring.

43 65
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1  Cape has a reputation of providing
and erecting quality scaffolding. 

2  Cape has introduced the use of
twin-tailed lanyards.

3  Cape’s training courses are 
also attended by clients and other
industry bodies.

4  Cape’s operatives practice the use
of fall arrest rescue techniques.

5  Cape employs qualified and
experienced scaffold engineers to
design ‘special’ scaffold structures.

6  Scaffolding is inspected on a weekly
basis (or more often if necessary).

Scaffold Inspection Standards
The frequent inspection of
scaffolding is crucial to ensuring
continual high standards of safety.
With the intention of exceeding
the industry benchmark for quality
and safety, Cape has embarked 
on an extensive training programme
for all its scaffold inspectors and
has developed its own advanced
Scaffold Inspector Refresher
Course which has been endorsed
by the UK Construction Industry
Training Board. The programme
explains state of the art 
scaffolding practices and
inspection techniques and 
requires all delegates to
demonstrate the required 
level of attained knowledge 
by examination.
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WITH THE CURRENT AND FUTURE PLANNED
GROWTH WITHIN THE GROUP, THE NEED TO
ENSURE THE MOST EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION
ON HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
ISSUES IS CRUCIAL.

RESPIRATOR HEALTH
PROTECTION

Respirator Test Facility
It is essential that respirators
used are of the highest
standard and in the belief 
that guaranteeing the integrity
of respirators is too important
to entrust to external
organizations, Cape has set up
its own test facility and ensures
that respirators are thoroughly
inspected and tested every time
before they are used.

Powered respirators, providing
a flow of air into the facepiece,
are worn when exposure to
more hazardous materials is
possible. In line with Cape’s
commitment to aspirational
health and safety standards, 
a vacuum test rig has been
obtained from a respirator

manufacturer and this has
enabled Cape to carry out the
same stringent tests completed
by the manufacturers before sale. 

Quantitative Face-Fit Testing
for Respirators
In order to ensure the respirator
fits the wearer well, a
quantitative face-fit test is
carried out. In order to reach all
employees on our various sites,
Cape provides a mobile test
facility at which the individual
employee must go through a
varied test protocol, involving
moving the head, talking and
undertaking physical exercise to
confirm the optimum fit of the
facepiece. In this way Cape
ensures their employees obtain
maximum protection from 
their respirators.

1

32

surveillance programme in place employees are now
provided with a detailed medical examination on site 
and are given immediate advice on the results. Cape also
benefits from the programme by being able to monitor
and analyse the health of its UK workforce.

REHABILITATION SERVICE
Cape recognizes the benefits both for the individual and
the Company of an early return to work for employees
who have been injured as a result of a work related
accident. Cape has therefore instigated a rehabilitation
service to provide early support and guidance from
independent healthcare and rehabilitation specialists. 
The service allows for a quick and effective diagnosis 
and treatment for the employee, using private referrals 
to avoid NHS delays where appropriate. This healthcare is
combined with an agreed return to work strategy with
the aim to achieve earlier reintegration into the work
environment and cost savings. 

COMMUNICATION
With the current and future planned growth within 
the Group, the need to ensure the most effective
communication on health, safety and environmental
issues is crucial. To this end Cape has introduced a Group
wide intranet system, where the latest information and
procedures are available. Cape also recognizes regional
cultures and regulations, with the result that specific
documents and training media have been translated 
and adapted for local use.

THE ENVIRONMENT
In order to monitor and minimize Cape’s impact on the
environment, we have introduced various initiatives,
during the year, including the development of a carbon
footprint and the implementation of a worldwide energy
management analysis.

1  As part of their work a significant
proportion of Cape employees come into
contact with hazardous or toxic materials.

2  All components in powered respirators
are serviced and recertified to industry
standards every six months.

3  Half-mask respirators may be used 
for less hazardous activities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report 
and audited financial statements of the Group and the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company and its subsidiaries form an international
group primarily engaged in the supply of a wide range 
of services including industrial scaffolding, thermal and
acoustic insulation, fire protection, painting, industrial
and specialist cleaning, asbestos removal, and related
services to major industrial groups, principally in the
energy sector. The Company’s subsidiary undertakings 
are listed on pages 76 and 77.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND GROUP RESULTS
The Directors present a Business Review as required by
section 234ZZB of the Companies Act 1985. This comprises:

• The Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 of the
Annual Report;

• The Chief Executive’s Review on pages 14 to 19 of the
Annual Report;

• The Five Year Financial Summary on pages 74 and 75
of the Annual Report; and 

• The discussion of the Principal Risks and Uncertainties
facing the Group set out on pages 34 to 37 of the
Annual Report.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividend was paid for the year ended 
31 December 2006 (2005: nil pence). The Directors are
unable to recommend the payment of a final dividend 
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (2005: nil pence).

FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in tangible fixed assets are
given in note 11(b) to the accounts on page 53.

DONATIONS
During the year the Group made charitable donations 
of £17,176 (2005: £11,845) towards various local and
national causes. There were no political donations 
(2005: £nil).

SHARE LISTING
The Company’s ordinary shares are admitted to and
traded on AIM, a market operated by the London 
Stock Exchange.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
The Group is not required to adopt International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) until the year
ending 31 December 2007.

DIRECTORS
The Directors at the date of this report and their
biographical details are as follows:

David McManus (53)
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in 2004 and
became Non-Executive Chairman in 2006. He is the Vice
President of International Operations and an Officer of
Pioneer Natural Resources, an independent American 
oil and gas company. Previously, David was President of
ARCO Europe until ARCO’s merger with BP in 2000 and
then Executive Vice President with BG Group until 2004.

Martin May (53)
Appointed Chief Executive in 2006, after having served
as Chairman since 2003. Martin is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Management Accountants and 
a founder member and Fellow of the Society of
Turnaround Practitioners.

Mike Reynolds (48)
Appointed Group Finance Director in 2003. He is a
Chartered Accountant who has been Finance Director 
of the Cape Industrial Services division since 1998. 

David Robins (54)
Appointed a Non-Executive Director in 2006, he is a
partner with city law firm Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP. 
He specializes in all aspects of corporate finance
including acquisitions, mergers and funding issues.
Before practicing as a solicitor, David was a corporate
finance executive with a leading merchant bank.

Sean O’Connor (58)
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 1 April 2007,
he was previously a non-executive Director of the
Company from 1996 to 2004. He is currently chairman
of Applied Energy Holdings Limited, Babel Media Limited
and Springboard Urban Limited and a director of a
number of private and public companies including
Sportingbet PLC, Graphite Enterprise Trust PLC, 
CrowTV Limited and Escape Studios Limited. 

Paul Ainley resigned as a Director of the Company 
on 25 May 2006. 

On 18 August 2006 John Pool retired as a Non-Executive
Director, a position he had held since 1997.

The Company’s articles provide that at each Annual
General Meeting one third of the Directors shall retire
from office and may, if being eligible and willing to act,
offer themselves for reappointment.
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Mike Reynolds is the Director retiring by rotation under
Article 100 and, being eligible, offers himself for
reappointment at the Annual General Meeting.

David Robins and Sean O’Connor, having been appointed
by the Directors since the last Annual General Meeting,
are required to retire at the end of the Annual General
Meeting on 28 June 2007 and being eligible, are seeking
reappointment by the shareholders at that meeting.

Details of the interests of the Directors in the shares and
share option schemes of the Company are shown below.

No Director had any interests in any contract with the
Company or its subsidiaries at any time during the year
other than their service contracts and through the 
share option schemes. No Executive Director has a 
service contract for a period in excess of one year’s
duration or with provision for predetermined
compensation for loss of office of an amount which
equals or exceeds one year’s salary and benefits in kind.
The Company has maintained insurance to cover the
Directors’ and officers’ liability as defined in s.310 
(3)(a) of the Companies Act 1985.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Shares
The beneficial interests of the Directors of the Company and their families in the ordinary shares of the Company as at
31 December 2006 are set out below:

2006 2005
Number Number

Directors
D McManus 25,000 25,000
MK May 100,000 85,000
MT Reynolds 12,779 12,779
DA Robins 12,000 –
None of the Directors had an interest in the shares of any other company in the Group.

On 23 April 2007, as part of the Placing by Collins Stewart Europe Limited the following Directors acquired ordinary
shares of the Company:

Beneficial interests
Number of as at

shares acquired 22 May 2007

D McManus 10,000 35,000
MK May 20,000 120,000
MT Reynolds 5,000 17,779
DA Robins 5,000 17,000

SHARE OPTIONS
The following Directors held options in the Company’s share option schemes during the year:

Earliest At At
exercise Surrendered/ Exercise 31 December 31 December

Date of grant date expiry date price 2005 Granted 2006

Directors 
MT Reynolds
Employee Incentive Plan* 07.05.04 07.05.07 07.05.14 £0.60 100,000 – 100,000
Employee Incentive Plan* 24.10.05 24.10.08 24.10.15 £1.20 100,000 – 100,000
Employee Incentive Plan* 07.07.06 07.07.09 07.07.16 £1.76 – 150,000 150,000
Sharesave Plan 21.07.06 01.09.11 01.03.12 £1.35 – 11,925 11,925
MK May
Employee Incentive Plan* 07.05.04 07.05.07 07.05.14 £0.60 400,000 – 400,000
Employee Incentive Plan* 07.07.06 07.07.09 07.07.16 £1.76 – 400,000 400,000
*Performance condition applies.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

On 7 July and 22 September 2006, the Board awarded a
combined total of 1,225,000 options over ordinary shares
of 25p each to its senior executives, including MK May
and MT Reynolds. The options were granted for nil
consideration at an exercise price of 176p per ordinary
share under the Company’s Employee Incentive Plan.

On 22 March 2007, the Board awarded a combined total
of 1,895,000 options over ordinary shares of 25p each to
its senior executives, including MK May (200,000 options)
and MT Reynolds (150,000 options). The options were
granted for nil consideration and at an exercise price of
269p per ordinary share under the Company’s Employee
Incentive Plan.

No other Directors have been granted share options in
the shares of the Company or other Group entities. 
None of the terms and conditions of the share options
were varied during the year. All options were granted 
in respect of qualifying services.

The options were granted at nil cost to the Directors. 
The options granted under the share option plan are
subject to the condition that they will not be exercisable
unless the performance of the Company’s adjusted
earnings per share over a set three year period exceeds
the growth in the Consumer Prices Index over the same
period by 3 per cent per annum.

There were no changes to the Directors’ interests in share
options in the period from 23 March 2007 to 22 May 2007.

The middle market price of the shares on 31 December
2006 was 249p and the range during the twelve months
ended 31 December 2006 was 111.5p to 255p.

GAINS MADE BY DIRECTORS ON SHARE OPTIONS
No gains were made on the exercise of share options
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES
The Company has provided qualifying third party
indemnities to Andrew Gillespie, Claire Craigie and
Benjamin Whitworth in their capacity as officers of 
two Group companies that were put into liquidation 
on 6 January 2006.

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY
The supplier payment policy for Group companies is to
agree terms and conditions for business transactions with
suppliers. Payment is then made subject to these terms
and conditions being met. The Company did not have
any amounts owed to trade creditors at the end of the
year (2005: nil). The Group owed £16.0 million to trade

creditors at the end of the year (2005: £17.3 million)
which represented 52 creditor days (2005: 54).

TREASURY POLICY
The Group’s policy on treasury and financial risk (see note
23) is set by the Board and is subject to regular reporting
and review. The main risks faced by the Group relate to
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.

A significant proportion of the Group’s business is
conducted overseas. The Group is therefore subject to
exchange risk when translating the results and assets of
its overseas subsidiaries into Sterling. Where significant
transactional exchange risks are identified, then appropriate
currency contracts are used to hedge these transactions.

The Group’s committed facilities all carry interest rates
based on LIBOR and therefore the Group is exposed to
interest rate movements. The Group has taken out an
interest rate hedge in respect of 75% of the term loans
on an amortising basis.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES 
The companies in the Group operate within broadly
prescribed personnel and employment policies. Each
company develops procedures which are most appropriate
to the circumstances within which it operates. The
Group’s training, career development and promotion
policies provide equal opportunities for all employees.

EMPLOYMENT OF DISABLED PERSONS
It is Group policy to permit, wherever practicable, 
the employment of disabled persons and to provide
appropriate opportunities for their training, career
development and promotion. Where employees have
become disabled in the service of the Group, every effort
is made to rehabilitate them in their former occupation
or in some suitable alternative.

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
The Group continues its practice of keeping all
employees informed on matters affecting them and the
Group, so that a common awareness amongst all
employees is developed in relation to the financial and
economic factors that affect the performance of the
Group. Where applicable, the Group consults employees
or their representatives on a regular basis so that the
views of employees can be taken into account in making
decisions that are likely to affect their interests.

The Group operates pension schemes for the benefit of
eligible employees in the UK and overseas. The funds of
the pension schemes are administered by trustees and
they are held separately from Group funds. In 2006,
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Cape reintroduced a Save As You Earn scheme (the
Sharesave Plan) for eligible employees. The Directors
believe that share ownership among employees
encourages team effort and will contribute to the ultimate
success of the Group. 

HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Group has issued a policy statement on its commitment
to a safe working environment for all employees. The Chief
Executive is responsible for the implementation of the Group
policy on Health and Safety. During the year Group operations
throughout the UK and the rest of the world, were subjected
to internal and third party audits to monitor compliance
with Company procedures and statutory requirements.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law). The financial statements
are required by law to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and Group and of the
profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent,

• state whether applicable UK accounting standards
have been followed subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group will continue in business, in which case there
should be supporting assumptions or qualifications 
as necessary.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company and
the Group to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

It is the intention of the Group that this document (the
Annual Report and Accounts 2006) will be published on
the Company’s website (in addition to the normal paper
version). The maintenance and integrity of the Cape
website is the responsibility of the Directors and the work
carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration
of these matters.

Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
TO AUDITORS
So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware.
Relevant information is defined as information needed 
by the Company’s auditors in connection with preparing
their report. Each Director has taken all the steps (such as
making enquiries of other Directors and the auditors and
any other steps required by the Director’s duty to exercise
due care, skill and diligence) that he ought to have taken
in his duty as a Director in order to make himself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.



28 CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (‘PSP’)
The Remuneration Committee, having reviewed the key
elements of the Company’s remuneration policy, and
after due consideration of the overall business strategy
consider that changes are necessary to ensure that the
remuneration strategy is able to retain, motivate and
incentivize senior executives and the future executives 
of the Company. The overall purpose of the revised
approach is to reward senior executives fairly and
competitively in their pursuit of creating shareholder value.

Accordingly, the Remuneration Committee proposes,
subject to the approval of shareholders, to introduce the
PSP which is a discretionary Long Term Incentive Plan in
two parts. The first part enables the Board or a duly
authorized Committee (together referred to as ‘the
Committee’) to grant options at no cost to participants,
and the second part enables the Committee to award
conditional shares to participants (‘Awards’). It is at the
Committee’s discretion as to which type of Awards are 
to be granted in any year. Awards are not pensionable
benefits and are not transferable without the consent 
of the Committee.

Eligibility
Any employee of the Company who is required to 
devote substantially all of his time to the business of the
Company will be eligible to participate in the PSP at the
discretion of the Committee. It is however currently
intended to offer participation only to executive directors,
senior executives and senior managers. 

Awards
Under the terms of the PSP, awards of ordinary shares in
the Company (‘Performance Shares’) or grants of options
over ordinary shares (with an exercise price of zero pence
or nominal value pence per share) can be made to selected
eligible employees at the discretion of the Committee.

Awards may be granted within the six week period
following the date on which the PSP is adopted.
Thereafter, Awards may normally only be granted in the
six week period beginning with any of the following: 
the dealing day following an announcement of the
Company’s results for any period; the day on which any
change to relevant legislation regulations or government
directive affecting employee share schemes is proposed
or made; or the day on which a new employee first joins
the Company or any of its qualifying subsidiaries.

In the absence of the above circumstances, Awards 
may only be granted in circumstances judged by the
Committee to be exceptional. No Awards may be
granted in breach of the rules of the London Stock
Exchange. No Awards may be granted more than ten
years after the establishment of the PSP.

No payment will be required for the grant of an Award.
The Committee will determine the exercise price of an
option which shall be zero, or nominal value per share.
Where new issue shares are to be used to satisfy the
Award, the exercise price may not be less than the
nominal value of a share.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

SUBSTANTIAL HOLDINGS
The Directors have been advised that as at 15 May 2007 the following have interests of 3% or more in the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company: 

Shareholder Holding % Holding

M & G Investment Management 16,520,122 14.95
Schroder Investment Management 15,069,577 13.64
Blackrock Merrill Lynch Investment Managers 12,792,642 11.58
Artemis Fund Managers 6,773,077 6.13
Morley Fund Management 5,350,919 4.84
F & C Asset Management 4,328,861 3.92
Slater Investments 3,735,000 3.38
JP Morgan Fleming Asset Management 3,414,388 3.09

The Company has not received notification of any other interests held by persons acting together which at 
15 May 2007 represented 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital.
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Individual limits on participation
Participants may receive an Award under the PSP in any
financial year over shares worth up to 100% of their
basic annual salary (excluding bonus, benefits in kind 
and company pension contributions). 

The rules permit higher Awards in exceptional circumstances
which the Committee determines justify such an Award.
An Award shall not exceed 200% of basic salary. 

The Committee does not intend to grant options under
the existing Employee Incentive Plan to a participant in 
the PSP in the same year that an Award is made under
the PSP. 

Limit on the issue of shares
The number of Awards in respect of which rights to
subscribe for new ordinary shares may on any day be
granted under, or for the purposes of, the PSP, when
added to the number of ordinary shares issued or which
remain pursuant to rights to subscribe for new ordinary
shares awarded/granted under, or for the purposes of the
Employee Incentive Plan and any other employees’ share
scheme of the Company in the period of ten years
ending on that day shall not exceed 10% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company on that day. 
The Committee has the right to use more than 5% for
the discretionary share incentives if needed, provided 
the 10% limit is not breached and the needs of any
other employees’ share schemes are considered.

Performance conditions
The vesting of Awards made under the PSP will normally
be subject to the attainment of one or more objective
conditions set by the Committee at the time of Award
relating to the performance of the Company and/or if 
the Committee so determines, a subsidiary (‘Performance
Target’) over a fixed period of 3 years (or other such
period as determined by the Committee) (‘Performance
Period’). Prior to the vesting of Awards the participants
will have no entitlement to the ordinary shares including
no rights to vote or receive dividends.

The performance condition will be determined based on
market practice at the time. It is proposed that the first
Awards under the PSP have performance conditions
based on annual average growth in earnings per share
above the Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) over a fixed three year
period, with no retesting. The progression is linear
between each of the target levels specified.

The performance criteria for awards has been agreed 
by the Committee as an earnings per share measure,
with the following levels required to result in vesting:

Minimum level RPI + 3% pa compound 30% vests
Maximum level RPI + 10% pa compound 100% vests

In appropriate circumstances, the Committee may
amend, vary or waive the Performance Target but must
ensure that any amended Performance Target is no
more difficult to satisfy than the original Performance
Target when first set.

The vesting of awards at the end of the Performance
Period will be subject to the relevant participant
remaining in employment and the achievement of 
the specified stretching performance conditions.

Exercise of options and lapse of Awards
A grant of options under the PSP shall normally become
exercisable on the later of the third anniversary of the
date of grant and the date on which the Committee
determines that the Performance Target has been met,
but in either case, only to the extent that the
Performance Target (and any other conditions) imposed
have been met or waived. An option may not in any
event be exercised after the fifth anniversary of the 
date of grant or such earlier date as may be specified 
at the date of grant.

A share award under the PSP shall normally vest on the
later of the third anniversary of the date of the award
and the date on which the Committee determines that
the Performance Target has been met, but in either case,
only to the extent that the Performance Target (and any
other conditions) imposed have been met or waived.

Under the rules of the PSP, the vesting of an award of
shares or the exercise of options granted may be made
conditional upon the employee entering into an
agreement or election under which any employer’s 
NIC liability will be transferred to the employee. 

Leaving employment
As a general rule, Awards may only vest whilst a
participant remains an employee of the Company.
However, if an optionholder ceases to be employed
within the Company as a result of death; illness, injury
or disability; or redundancy of the participant; as
confirmed at the discretion of the Committee, or
because the business for which he works is sold outside
the Group, Awards which have vested as of the date of
cessation remain capable of exercise during the period
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of six months following the date of cessation and
twelve months following the date of cessation in the
case of death. Awards which have not vested at the
date of cessation shall vest as determined by the
Committee taking into account the extent to which any
Performance Target has been satisfied at the time of
such cessation and having regard to the time elapsed
between the date of the Award and the cessation 
of employment.

A participant who ceases to hold office or employment
for any other reason may exercise any option which 
has already vested at the date of cessation, during the
period of six months from the date of cessation (or such
other period as the Committee may determine). Any
Awards which have not vested or become capable of
exercise at the date of such cessation will lapse at that
time unless the Committee, in its absolute discretion,
determines otherwise.

Where a participant ceases to hold office or employment
by reason of summary dismissal (where such summary
dismissal is lawful in accordance with the terms of the
participant’s contract of office or employment) all of their
Awards will lapse.

Reconstruction or winding up of the Company
If there is a demerger or statutory reconstruction,
voluntary winding up or change of control (as a result of
a general offer which is unconditional) of the Company,
the extent to which Awards vest will reflect the extent to
which the Performance Target has been met and the time
that has elapsed from the date of the Award, subject 
to the discretion of the Committee.

If a change of control is proposed in circumstances 
where corporation tax relief in relation to Awards will be
prejudiced once control has passed, the Committee may
exercise discretion to allow Awards to vest in advance 
of the date at which control passes.

Payment of tax and NIC
A participant shall be responsible for the payment of all
relevant income tax and employee’s NIC relating to their
Award. The Company may withhold an amount equal 
to such liabilities from any amounts due to the employee
(to the extent such withholding is lawful) and/or withhold
and sell sufficient shares subject to the Award, in
satisfaction of these liabilities.

Cash Equivalent
The Committee, in its absolute discretion, may determine
that on the vesting of an Award, the participant shall
instead of receiving shares, receive a cash sum equal 
to the total market value of the shares on the date on
which the Award vested. If the participant has not yet
paid any exercise price in respect of an option then the
amount payable shall be reduced by the aggregate
exercise price payable in respect of the option.

Amendment of the PSP
The Committee may at any time alter or add to all or any
of the provisions of the PSP in any respect, provided that
no alteration, deletion or addition shall be made to the
rules regarding the persons to whom Awards may be
made, the limitations on the number of shares which
may be issued, the individual limits on participation, 
or the principal terms governing the vesting of awards
and the exercise of options. This is subject to exceptions
for any alteration which relates solely to performance
targets, or any minor alteration, deletion or addition
which is to benefit the administration of the PSP or is
necessary or desirable to take account of any change 
in legislation or maintain favourable taxation, exchange
control or regulatory treatment.

Rights attaching to shares
Shares allotted or transferred under the PSP will rank
equally with all other ordinary shares of the company for
the time being in issue. 

Overseas Employees
The Committee may grant Awards to overseas employees
on different terms so as to take account of relevant
overseas tax, securities or exchange control laws provided
that the Awards granted are not overall more favourable
than the Awards granted to other employees.



CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006 31

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
At the Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 June
2007, resolutions will be proposed on the following items
of special business. 

(a) To approve the rules of the Cape PLC Performance
Share Plan (‘PSP’).

Details of the PSP and the reasons why the Remuneration
Committee propose its introduction are set out on pages
28 to 30 of the Directors’ Report.

(b) To amend to the Company’s articles of association.

The Companies Act 1985 permits the Company to
indemnify its directors in certain circumstances. Article
161 in the Company’s articles of association sets out 
the detailed scope and limitations of the indemnity.
The purpose of the two amendments proposed is 
to make clear for the avoidance of any doubt that 
the indemnity may be extended to the directors of 
associated companies.

(c) To authorize the Directors to allot shares in accordance
with Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985.

Under the Company’s articles of association the Directors
have the power to allot shares, in accordance with
Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985, with the
authority of an ordinary resolution. The authority 
will relate to 36,822,029 ordinary shares of 25p each
representing one-third of the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital as at the date of the Notice. The Directors
have no present intention of exercising the authority
conferred by this resolution other than through the 
grant of options pursuant to the Company’s share 
option schemes.

(d) To disapply statutory pre-emption rights under 
Section 89 of the Companies Act 1985.

The Directors consider it to be in the best interests of the
Company that they should continue to have the power
to allot equity securities for cash other than to existing
shareholders up to a maximum amount of 5% of the
Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the date of
the Notice. A Special Resolution will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting authorising the Directors to allot
ordinary shares up to a nominal amount of £1,380,826
being approximately 5% of the Company’s issued
ordinary share capital as at the date of the Notice.

(e) To authorise the Directors to make market purchases
of the Company’s ordinary shares under section 
163 of the Companies Act 1985.

The Directors consider that in certain circumstances it
might be advantageous to the Company to be able to
purchase its own shares. The resolution specifies the
maximum number of shares that can be acquired (10%
of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the
date of the Notice) and the maximum and minimum
prices at which shares may be bought.

The Directors intend to use the authority only if, in the light
of market conditions prevailing at the time, they believe
that the effect of such a purchase will be to increase
earnings per share and will be in the best interests of
shareholders generally. Other investment opportunities,
appropriate gearing levels and the overall position of the
Company will be taken into account in reaching any such
decision to use the authority. Any shares purchased 
in this way would either be cancelled and the number 
of shares in issue reduced accordingly, or retained as
treasury stock with a view to re-issue at a future date.
The latter option would give the Company the ability to
re-issue treasury shares quickly and cost effectively and
would provide the Company with additional flexibility 
in the management of its capital base.

The text of all the resolutions is set out in full in the
notice convening the Annual General Meeting on pages
78 and 79 (‘Notice’).

The Annual General Meeting is to be held on 28 June
2007 at the offices of Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP at
Adelaide House, London Bridge, London EC4R 9HA.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated
their willingness to continue in office, and a resolution
concerning their reappointment will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board 
BW Whitworth
Secretary
22 May 2007

Cape House
3 Red Hall Avenue
Paragon Business Village 
Wakefield
West Yorkshire
WF1 2UL



32 CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Cape is committed to achieving high standards of
business integrity, ethics and professionalism across 
its worldwide operations.

As a company whose shares are traded on AIM, 
the Company is not required to comply with the full
requirements of the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance (‘Code’). However, the Board has implemented
policies and procedures in order to comply with the 
Code as far as reasonably practicable and appropriate 
for a public company of its size and complexity.

THE BOARD
The Board has responsibility for the overall management and
performance of the Group and the approval and monitoring
of its long-term objectives and commercial strategy.

The Code indicates that a company of Cape’s size should
have at least two independent Non-Executive Directors.
For the first five months of the year, the Board comprised
an executive Chairman (Martin May), two other executives
(Mike Reynolds and Paul Ainley), and two independent
non-executives (John Pool and David McManus). 

On 25 May 2006 Paul Ainley resigned. On 10 July 2006,
Martin May was appointed as Chief Executive and David
McManus became Chairman. On 18 August, John Pool
resigned and on 1 September, David Robins was appointed
as an independent Non-Executive Director. 

On 1 April 2007 Sean O’Connor rejoined the Board as 
an independent Non-Executive Director and will chair 
the Board’s Nomination Committee and sit on both the
Audit and Remuneration Committees.

The Board currently comprises: Non-Executive 
Chairman, two Executive Directors and two 
independent Non-Executive Directors. No individual or
group of Directors dominates the Board’s decision 
making. Each of the Non-Executive Directors is
independent of management and has no cross-directorships
or other significant links which could materially 
interfere with the exercise of his independent 
judgement. Collectively, the Non-Executive Directors 
bring a valuable range of expertise in assisting the
Company to achieve its strategic aims. 

All Directors are subject to election by the shareholders 
at the first opportunity after their initial appointment 
to the Board and to re-election thereafter at intervals 
of not more than three years. (For biographical details 
of the Directors please see page 24).

The Company has a separate Chairman and Chief
Executive each with their own responsibilities. The
Chairman is responsible for the effective running of the
Board and the Chief Executive is ultimately responsible
for all operational matters and the financial performance
of the Company. 

A statement of the Directors’ responsibilities is contained
in the Directors’ Report on page 27.

MATTERS RESERVED FOR THE BOARD
The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved 
for its decision which includes:

• Group Strategy and Policy
• Group Corporate and Capital Structure
• Financial Reporting and Controls
• Communication with Shareholders
• Board Membership and other Senior 

Management Appointments
• Material Transactions

Other matters are delegated to Board Committees,
individual Directors or senior management where
appropriate. In addition, the Board receives reports 
and recommendations from time to time on any matter
which it considers significant to the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board delegates certain powers to designated
committees. The terms of reference for the principal
Committees can be obtained by contacting the Group
Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
During the year the Committee comprised John Pool
(Chairman – resigned 18 August 2006), David Robins
(Chairman – appointed 1 September 2006), Martin May
(resigned 10 July upon becoming Chief Executive) and
David McManus.

The Committee consists solely of Non-Executive Directors,
each of whom has financial experience in a large
organization. At the invitation of the Committee, the
Chief Executive, Group Finance Director, Group Company
Secretary, Group Financial Controller and the Company’s
external auditor may attend meetings.

The Audit Committee is responsible for exercising the full
powers and authority of the Board in accounting matters,
financial reporting and internal controls. In all cases the
Audit Committee gives due regard to the interests 
of the Company’s shareholders.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
During the year the Committee comprised David
McManus (Chairman), Martin May (resigned 10 July 
upon becoming Chief Executive), John Pool (resigned 
18 August 2006) and David Robins (appointed 
1 September 2006). 

The Committee consists solely of Non-Executive Directors.
At the invitation of the Committee, the Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director, Group Company Secretary and
external advisers may attend meetings.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for
determining and recommending the remuneration 
of individual members of the Board (abstaining from
voting on matters in connection with themselves). The
Committee also determines and recommends the grant
of share options under the Company’s Employee
Incentive Plan.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS
The Board is supplied in a timely manner with
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to
enable it to discharge its duties. This includes detailed
monthly management accounts and an analysis of 
the Group’s actual performance against budget and 
the previous year.

The Board usually meets formally not fewer than eight
times a year. Informally, Board members meet more
often. The principal Board committees meet not less than
twice a year. During 2006, there was full attendance 
of the individual Directors at all Board and Committee
Meetings.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company values the views of all its shareholders and
recognizes their interests in the Company’s strategy and
performance. The Chief Executive has the responsibility
for ensuring effective communication with shareholders
and that the Board is fully aware of major shareholders’
views and opinions. The Chief Executive, along with the
Chairman and Group Finance Director are available 
to meet shareholders for this purpose.

The Annual and Interim Reports are available on the
Company’s website. Regular trading updates, significant
contract wins and health and safety achievements are
published via the Regulatory Information Services and 
on the Company’s website. 

All shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s
Annual General Meeting at which the Chairman gives 
an account of the progress of the business over the year

and provides an opportunity for shareholders to ask 
any questions they may have. The Board attends this
meeting and is available to answer questions from 
those shareholders present. 

AUDIT AND AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
An additional responsibility of the Audit Committee is
that of recommending to the Board the appointment of
the external auditors and for reviewing the scope of the
audit, approving the audit fee and, on an annual basis,
satisfying itself that the auditors are independent. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are retained to perform
audit and audit-related work on the Group, the Company
and the majority of Group companies. 

From time to time a requirement to perform non-audit
work arises, for example in relation to the Scheme and
the accounting due diligence exercise undertaken on DBI
Group. The Audit Committee monitors the nature and
extent of non-audit work undertaken by the auditors. 
It is satisfied that there are adequate controls in place to
ensure auditor independence and objectivity. The matter
is kept under review and as a standing item on the
agenda for the Audit Committee reports. Periodically,
the Audit Committee monitors the cost of non-audit
work undertaken by the auditors. The Audit Committee
considers that it is in a position to take action if at 
any time it believes that there is a risk of the auditors’
independence being undermined through the award 
of this work.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
Company’s systems of internal control but is aware that
such systems are designed to manage and mitigate
rather than totally eliminate risk and therefore can never
be an absolute assurance against the Company failing to
achieve certain objectives or suffering a material loss. 

The Company has also put in place processes to deal
with the identification, assessment and management of
major business risks including fraud. These processes and
controls are monitored and reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Group Finance Director periodically.
During 2006, the Company appointed a full time internal
auditor and provided training to key accounting and
other staff on its Behavioural Standards Policy which
covers, among other things, fraud. 
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES REVIEW
Risk is an unavoidable consequence of any business
activity. Cape faces a number of risks in undertaking its
operations around the world. Cape is in the process of
introducing a formal process that identifies and reviews
risks and assists with the planning of measures to
mitigate known risks.

As required by law, there follows a review of the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group as identified
by the Directors. The review is not exhaustive and risks
may exist that have not been identified by the Directors,
new risks may emerge or the likelihood of known risks
occurring and the impact they may have upon the Group
may change from time to time.

THE OIL AND GAS INDUSTRY
Most of the Group’s revenues are derived from the
provision of services to the energy and petrochemical
sectors. As a consequence, the Group’s earnings are
closely related to the price of oil and gas. Oil and gas
prices fluctuate and are affected by numerous factors
outside the control of the Group.

Operating activities may be delayed or adversely affected
by factors outside the control of the Group. These include
climatic conditions, industrial conditions, technical failures,
labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological features,
environmental hazards, delays to government actions,
delays in construction, availability of material or parts and
shipping, and import or customs delays. Problems may
also arise due to the quality or failure of locally obtained
equipment or interruption to services (such as power,
water, fuel and transport or processing capacity).

These risks and hazards could also result in damage to, 
or destruction of, production facilities, personal injury,
environmental damage, business interruption, monetary
losses and possibly legal liability.

On certain very large projects the Group may also 
be exposed to risks arising from underpricing,
underperformance and contractual disputes which 
may result in a loss on the contract.

Whilst the Group currently maintains insurance within
ranges of coverage consistent with legal requirements
and industry practice, no assurance can be given that 
the Group will always be able to obtain such insurance
coverage at reasonable rates (or at all), or that any
coverage obtained will be adequate and available to
cover any such claims.

POLITICAL, SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC RISKS
There can be no assurance that political, social and
economic stability in certain of the overseas countries 
in which the Group operates will continue. The current
stage of evolution of the political, social and economic
systems found within certain overseas countries renders
each country vulnerable to economic hardship, public
dissatisfaction with reform, social or ethnic instability 
and changes in government policies, any of which could
materially and adversely affect the Group. 

The terrorist attacks in the United States on 11 September
2001 and subsequent military action in Afghanistan and
Iraq have contributed to increased global, political and
economic instability in a number of the Middle-Eastern
countries where the Group operates and intends to
develop further projects. Retaliatory actions or escalations
in hostilities in these, or adjoining countries, may result 
in adverse consequences for the Group.

LEGAL RISKS
Certain countries in which the Group operates do not
have a fully developed legal system. In some countries 
in which the Group operates, it trades through 
partially owned businesses and separate sponsorship/
management agreements. Effective redress in courts in
respect of breach of law or regulations, or in ownership
disputes, may be difficult to obtain.
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CURRENCY EXCHANGE
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in certain foreign
currencies where it receives revenue in one currency
while its costs are incurred in another local currency. 
The Group can offer no assurance that exchange rate
fluctuations will not have a material adverse effect on 
its ability to pay its expenses when due.

SANCTIONS AND BOYCOTTS IN CERTAIN COUNTRIES
There is no assurance regarding the possibility of boycotts
and sanctions in some of the territories in which the
Group may operate which may at some time have a
material adverse effect on the business and/or financial
condition of the Group.

TRADING IN THE USA, CANADA AND MEXICO
As referred to below, the Company has received legal
advice in the UK that default judgments obtained in the
USA against Group companies which are not present or
have no place of business in the USA, Canada or Mexico
are not enforceable in the UK. Accordingly, the Group 
is denied access to these major markets. 

ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS AND HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Group is subject to international, European and local
laws and regulations that relate to activities or operations
that may have adverse environmental effects. Breach of
these laws and regulations could result in significant
liabilities to the Group such as civil and criminal liabilities,
regulatory action and penalties including fines and/or
suspension of operations.

Environmental issues can also have a significant impact
on the cost and feasibility of the development of projects.
In particular, environmental issues can impede and/or
give rise to material costs in obtaining and maintaining
necessary government or regulatory approvals. 

Customers require a high level of performance in these
areas. Failure to do so could result in a material loss of
customers and contracts.

DEPENDENCE ON KEY CUSTOMERS
The Group is dependent on a number of key customers.
In most cases, the Group’s business with such customers
is conducted through a number of separate contracts
with separate divisions of the main customer and spread
both geographically and by contract term. The loss of 
all the contracts of one or more of these customers to 
a competitor would have a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s revenues.

COMPETITION
The Group operates in a competitive industry sector. 
The Group competes with a number of companies some
of which have greater financial, technical and other
resources than the Group. There is no assurance that the
Group will continue to be competitive and be successful
in winning profitable contracts on further projects.

POTENTIAL FOR GROWTH IN MARKET SHARE
The Directors estimate that in certain markets the Group
has a market share of 30% or more. In these markets,
the Directors are of the opinion that the Group may be
restricted from growing through undertaking material
acquisitions as this could result in competition law issues
or in the Group having an unsustainable market share,
given the nature of the tendering process.

INDUSTRIAL ACTION AND EMPLOYEES
While the Directors feel that wage disputes in the UK 
are unlikely since the majority of wage levels are agreed
with unions, the Group could suffer from industrial
action either in the UK or overseas. Should the relevant
unions elect to take industrial action, for whatever
reason, the reliability of the Group’s operatives could 
be compromised for extended periods of time. This 
could have an adverse impact on customer loyalty 
and operational and financial performance.

Wage costs represent a relatively high proportion of 
the total costs of the Group, frequently exceeding 
50%. Consequently, the Group may be exposed to 
any significant change in government policy in the UK
that would affect these costs. 

Under this heading is included the dispute in relation to
offshore workers’ holiday pay which is explained in more
detail in note 26(iv) to the accounts on page 69.
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PENSION SCHEMES
The Group operates two principal pension schemes in 
the UK: one is of the defined benefit type and the other
of the defined contribution type. The assets of both
schemes are held in trustee administered funds.

The main scheme, the defined benefit scheme, has assets
of approximately £118 million. Independent actuaries have
updated the April 2004 valuation of the defined benefit
scheme to 31 December 2006 at which date the present
value of the scheme’s liabilities was approximately £103
million. This scheme is closed to new members. The Group
is currently contributing to the fund for the cost of current
service and separately paying the expenses of the scheme.
Should there be a change in the forecast and investment
return or liabilities (e.g. due to inflation or longevity) this
could create an additional funding requirement which
could have a material adverse effect on the Group. 

WORKING CAPITAL
There are certain conditions attaching to the Group’s
existing bank facility which will determine the extent 
of the facility available at any point in time. If those
conditions are not met, or if the Scheme Funding
Requirements are significant, the Group may not have
available funds sufficient to enable it to conduct business
in the manner currently envisaged.

RISKS RELATING TO THE SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT
AND OTHER ASBESTOS-RELATED MATTERS
Uncertainties concerning future projections
For the purpose of the Scheme and in particular to
determine the amount required to make available to fund
payments under the Scheme, Cape commissioned an
independent actuary to review and provide an estimate
of certain of the Group’s unpaid UK asbestos-related
claims as at 31 December 2004 (including future claims),
other than claims that the Group expects to make 
recovery of, or are settled, under certain third-party
indemnities. Unpaid claims do not represent an exact
calculation, but rather are estimates of the expected
future costs of the ultimate settlement of claims. As such,
estimates of asbestos-related unpaid claims are inherently
uncertain. In providing its estimates the actuary has
relied, without audit or independent verification, on both
historical, financial and non-financial data and other
quantitative and qualitative information provided by the

Group. The actuary has also used disease emergent
studies conducted in the UK by the Health and Safety
Executive (HSE) as well as several academic studies
including studies of mesothelioma specific to the UK.
Due to the historical nature of the information provided
by the Group there are variances in its completeness. This
further increases the inherent uncertainty in the actuary’s
estimates, although this uncertainty should decrease over
time as the information is further expanded and updated. 

Recourse claims
Cape Claims Services Limited (‘CCS’) will pay all Scheme
Claims that it has agreed to pay under the Scheme
Guarantee in full while it is fully funded and while its
level of funding remains at 60% or more of the Scheme
Funding Requirement. Certain Scheme Creditors will, in
limited circumstances, have recourse to the relevant
Scheme Company for direct payment of their Scheme
Claim if they receive from CCS less than 50% of their
claim at the time of settlement or have not received
100% within 12 months of their Scheme Claim being
established. If any such Scheme Creditor did not receive
full payment from the relevant Group Company he
would, but for the Scheme, be entitled to force the
insolvency of that Group Company and thereby have
transferred to him the Scheme Company’s rights against
its insurers.

Asbestos-related claims outside the Scheme
The Scheme does not seek to address all potential
asbestos-related claims which may be made against the
Group and there remains the risk that other claims for
asbestos-related diseases may continue to be made by
claimants outside the Scheme. If there were a significant
increase in either the number of such claims outside the
Scheme or the quantum of damages the Group had to
settle in respect thereof, it is unlikely that, in the absence
of further external funding, the Group would be able to
continue to meet such claims.

Potential asbestos-related liabilities not covered by the
Scheme include: claims against Group companies not in
the Scheme, claims from South African claimants alleging
they were not included in the March 2003 settlement,
claims from the USA which are currently unenforceable 
in the UK, and claims from liquidated former subsidiaries
of the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES REVIEW CONTINUED
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Working capital
If there were a significant increase in either the number
of Scheme Claims or the quantum of damages awarded
for Scheme Claims, an adverse change in the legal or
regulatory environment surrounding asbestos-related
diseases, a significant new class of type of claimant and
type of claims, or a material deterioration in the Group’s
trading performance, the annual top-up payments made
by the Company to CCS may be significantly below the
Scheme Funding Requirement. Whilst the Scheme
provides protection for Group Companies against
insolvency arising in these circumstances the extent of
such under-funding in CCS and the ongoing funding
obligations may, in the absence of external funding, have
a materially adverse effect on the Group’s working capital
and on its ability to develop its business and thereby
prospects. In these circumstances, the Group’s available
working capital may be significantly constrained such
that, for example, it may be unable to carry on business
at its then existing levels and, be restricted in the number
and size of new contracts it was able to take on.

Taxation 
Any change in the law or a successful change by HM
Revenue and Customs whereby the existing tax
treatment of industrial disease claim liabilities and
provisions within the relevant Group Companies was
withdrawn would have a materially adverse financial
effect on the Group. The Directors have received advice
from leading tax counsel that nothing within the Scheme
structure should disturb the existing tax treatment and
that the Group should be entitled to continue to make
tax deductions in respect of industrial disease claim
liabilities going forward. 

Insurance
Whilst the Directors have no reason to believe it will 
be the case, there remains a risk that currently solvent
employers’ liability insurance cover may be disputed 
or withdrawn by the relevant insurer which may have 
a materially adverse effect on the Group.

PLC Scheme Share
The rights of the PLC Scheme Share provide that, inter
alia, without the prior written consent of the Scheme
Shareholder, all transactions carried out by the Group
must be on arms-length terms, no significant 
transactions may be undertaken with related parties and
that if at any time the Scheme Funding Percentage is less
than 110%, no dividends or other distributions may be
made to Shareholders. The rights of the PLC Scheme
Share may have an adverse effect on the market value of
ordinary shares. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPE PLC

We have audited the Group and parent company
financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of 
Cape PLC for the year ended 31 December 2006 which
comprise the consolidated profit and loss account, 
the consolidated and company balance sheets, the
consolidated cash flow statement, the reconciliation 
of net cash flow to movement in net (debt)/funds, the
consolidated statement of total recognized gains and
losses, the note of Group historical cost profit and losses,
the reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds and
the related notes. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, 
has been prepared for and only for the Company’s
members as a body in accordance with Section 235 
of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.
We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements. The information given in
the Directors’ Report includes that specific information
presented in the Chief Executive’s Review, Chairman’s
Statement, Five year financial summary and discussion of
principal risks and uncertainties that is cross referred from
the review of business section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we
have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if information specified by
law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual
Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. This other information
comprises only the Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s
Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, the report 
on Health, Safety and the Environment, the Corporate
Governance Report, and the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties Review. We consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend 
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence
to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Group’s and
the parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2006
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the financial statements.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER – CONTINGENT LIABILITY 
FOR INDUSTRIAL DISEASE CLAIMS
In forming our opinion, which is not qualified, we have
considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in note
26 to the financial statements concerning the impact of,
and accounting for, potential future claims for industrial
disease compensation. An independent actuarial estimate
of the range of certain potential liabilities has been
performed, however, given the wide range of the
estimates and significant degree of uncertainty
surrounding them, it is not possible for the Directors to
quantify, with sufficient reliability, the amount required 
to settle future claims and accordingly claims are
generally accounted for on the basis of claims lodged or
settlements reached and outstanding at the balance
sheet date. However, if it were possible to assess reliably
the present value of the amount required to settle future
claims such that this was provided in the balance sheet,
there would be a materially adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
22 May 2007
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2005
2006 (restated)
Total Total

Notes £m £m

Turnover
Continuing operations 270.7 229.8
Acquisitions 3.5 –
Total continuing operations 1 274.2 229.8
Discontinued operations 21.5 32.0

1 295.7 261.8
Less share of turnover of joint ventures – continuing operations (0.2) (0.3)
Group turnover 295.5 261.5
Group operating profit
Continuing operations 12.9 7.8
Acquisitions (after £0.2 million (2005: £nil) of goodwill amortisation) 0.4 –
Operating exceptional items – continuing operations 4 1.0 (9.7)
Total continuing operations 3 14.3 (1.9)
Discontinued operations 3 0.2 0.3
Group operating profit/(loss) 3 14.5 (1.6)
Share of operating profit in joint ventures – continuing operations 1 0.1 0.2
Total operating profit/(loss): group and share of joint ventures 2 14.6 (1.4)
Loss on disposal of business – discontinued 5 (2.5) –
Profit on sale of fixed assets – discontinued 5 1.8 –
Profit on sale of fixed assets – continuing 5 – 0.3
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before interest 1 13.9 (1.1)
Net interest payable 8 (0.4) (0.7)
Other finance income 28 0.9 0.8
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 14.4 (1.0)
Tax (charge)/credit on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 9 (3.1) 1.0
Profit for the year 21 11.3 –

Earnings per ordinary share:
– Basic 10 13.5p nil
– Diluted 10 13.3p nil

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share from continuing operations:
– Basic 10 14.6p (0.1p)
– Diluted 10 14.4p (0.1p)
The notes and information on pages 44 to 73 form part of these accounts.

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 December 2006



CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006 41

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
at 31 December 2006

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes £m £m £m £m

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 11 15.0 0.6 – –
Tangible assets 11 32.0 29.4 – –
Investments 12 – – 98.1 83.5
Interest in joint ventures: Share of gross assets 12 0.1 0.2 – –

47.1 30.2 98.1 83.5

Current assets
Stocks 13 8.3 9.9 – –
Debtors 14 83.6 77.5 4.3 6.8
Cash – Scheme funds (restricted) 16 40.1 – – –
Cash at bank and in hand 16 15.3 27.2 – 1.3

147.3 114.6 4.3 8.1

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Short-term borrowings 17 (13.3) (1.8) (6.6) –
Other creditors 17 (73.0) (63.2) (0.9) (2.5)

(86.3) (65.0) (7.5) (2.5)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 61.0 49.6 (3.2) 5.6
Total assets less current liabilities 108.1 79.8 94.9 89.1
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (23.1) (1.7) (55.9) (19.4)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (14.9) (19.2) (8.9) (11.0)
Net assets excluding pension asset 70.1 58.9 30.1 58.7
Pension asset 28 10.9 5.3 10.9 5.5
Net assets including pension asset 81.0 64.2 41.0 64.2

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 25.5 25.5 25.5 25.5
Share premium account 21 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0
Revaluation reserve 21 2.0 2.2 60.2 45.9
Profit and loss account 21 28.5 11.5 (69.7) (32.2)
Shareholders’ funds 81.0 64.2 41.0 64.2
These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 May 2007 and were signed on its behalf by:

D McManus Chairman

MT Reynolds Group Finance Director

The notes and information on pages 44 to 73 form part of these accounts.
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2006 2006 2005 2005
Notes £m £m £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities before 
Scheme funding 22(a) 13.7 7.3
Scheme funding – transfer to restricted cash (40.0) –
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (26.3) 7.3
Dividends received from Joint ventures 0.2 0.4
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 1.3 0.3
Interest received on restricted funds (1.0) –
Net interest received 0.3 0.3
Interest paid (1.5) (0.9)
Interest element of finance lease payments (0.2) (0.1)
Issue costs of new bank loans (0.5) –
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing 
of finance (1.9) (0.7)
Taxation 22(b) (1.4) (0.9)
Capital expenditure and financial investment 
Purchases of tangible fixed assets (8.9) (8.8)
Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets 3.5 1.0
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment (5.4) (7.8)

Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 22(e) (11.0) (0.5)
Net debt acquired with subsidiary undertakings 22(e) (1.2) –
Sale of business 22(f) 5.4 –
Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals (6.8) (0.5)
Net cash outflow before financing (41.6) (2.2)
Financing
Issue of ordinary shares – 32.0
Expenses of share issue – (1.4)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (1.5) (0.8)
Repayment of short-term borrowing – (5.2)
Net increase in borrowings 26.5 –
Net cash inflow from financing 25.0 24.6
(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year 22(d) (16.6) 22.4

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2006

2006 2005
Note £m £m

(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (16.6) 22.4
(Outflow)/inflow from debt and lease financing (24.5) 6.0
Change in debt resulting from cash flows (41.1) 28.4
New finance leases (3.1) (2.8)
Exchange movement in year (0.6) 0.5
Movement in net funds in year (44.8) 26.1
Net funds/(debt) at 1 January 23.7 (2.4)
Net (debt)/funds at 31 December 22(d) (21.1) 23.7
The notes and information on pages 44 to 73 form part of these accounts.

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET (DEBT)/FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNIZED GAINS AND LOSSES
for the year ended 31 December 2006

2005
2006 (restated)

Notes £m £m

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 11.3 –
Currency translation differences net of taxation on foreign currency net investments 21 (2.2) 1.4
Actuarial gain recognised in the pension scheme 28 7.7 1.6
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension asset (2.3) (0.5)
Total recognized gains relating to the year 14.5 2.5

Prior year adjustment (see accounting policies, 16, share based payments) (0.1)

Total gains and losses recognized since last annual report 14.4

NOTE OF GROUP HISTORICAL COST PROFITS AND LOSSES
for the year ended 31 December 2006

2005
2006 (restated)

£m £m

Reported profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 14.4 (1.0)
Realization of property revaluation gains of previous years 0.2 0.1
Historical cost profit on ordinary activities before taxation 14.6 (0.9)
Historical cost profit for the year retained after taxation and dividends 11.5 0.1

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2006

2005
2006 (restated)

Note £m £m

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 11.3 –
Currency translation differences net of taxation on foreign currency net investments 21 (2.2) 1.4
Issue of new share capital (net of issue costs) – 30.6
Adjustment in respect of employee share scheme 0.4 0.2
Recycling of goodwill previously written off to reserves 1.9 –
Actuarial gain in pension scheme net of deferred tax 5.4 1.1
Net increase to shareholders’ funds 16.8 33.3
Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 64.2 30.9
Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 81.0 64.2
The notes and information on pages 44 to 73 form part of these accounts.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1 ACCOUNTING CONVENTION
The financial statements are prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for certain fixed assets which are
included at valuation, and in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and applicable accounting standards 
in the United Kingdom. A summary of the more important
Group accounting policies is set out below, which have been
applied consistently, with the exception of new accounting
standards adopted in the year.

2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(a) The consolidated financial statements comprise the

financial statements of the Company and all subsidiary
undertakings for the year ended 31 December 2006.

(b) The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated profit and loss account from or to 
their effective dates of acquisition or disposal.
Intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealized
profits and losses on transactions between Group
Companies are eliminated on consolidation.

(c) The Group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for
under the gross equity method. The consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the
profits or losses of joint ventures and the consolidated
balance sheet includes the investments in joint ventures
at cost, including attributable goodwill, plus the
Group’s share of post-acquisition reserves.

3 FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the date of transaction. Profits and
losses of subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and
branches which have currencies of operation other than
sterling are translated into sterling at average rates of
exchange. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the year end exchange rate.

Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of 
the opening net assets of subsidiary undertakings, joint
ventures and branches that have currencies of operation
other than sterling, net of any matching exchange
differences on related foreign currency loans taken out 
to hedge overseas investments, are taken to reserves,
together with the differences arising when the profit 
and loss accounts are translated at average rates and
compared with rates ruling at the year end. Other exchange
differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

4 TURNOVER
Turnover for manufactured goods is the invoiced value 
of sales and services of the Group. The policy for recognition
of turnover in respect of short and long-term contracts is
disclosed in the policy on stocks and work in progress.

5 COST OF SALES
Operating expenses, to the extent that they are directly
related to contracting activities and are recoverable against
contracts are classified within cost of sales.

6 GOODWILL
Purchased goodwill (representing the excess of the fair value

of the consideration paid over the fair value of the separable
net assets acquired) is stated at cost (less provision for
impairment) and is amortized through the profit and loss
account on a straight line basis over its estimated useful
economic life, which is generally considered to be 20 years.
The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
in accordance with FRS 11 ‘Impairment of fixed assets and
goodwill’. Any impairment is recognized in the profit and
loss account.

On the implementation of FRS 10 ‘Goodwill and Intangible
Assets’, the Group adopted the transitional arrangements
such that all goodwill that had been written off directly to
reserves would only be charged to the profit and loss
account on subsequent disposal of the business to which 
it related.

7 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation net 
of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Cost
comprises purchase cost together with any incidental costs
of acquisition. Under FRS 15, the Group followed the option
within the transitional arrangements to retain the book
values of land and buildings, certain of which were last
revalued in 1992. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost or valuation less the estimated residual value of
tangible fixed assets by equal instalments over their
estimated useful economic lives with the exception that no
depreciation is provided on freehold land. The following
rates are applied:
– Freehold buildings – 2% per annum
– Leasehold land and buildings – the period of the lease
– Plant, machinery, fixtures and fittings – 62⁄3% to 331⁄3%

per annum.

The carrying value of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for
impairment if events or change in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Any impairment in the value of fixed assets is dealt with in
the profit and loss account in the period in which it arises.

8 LEASED PLANT AND MACHINERY
Where assets are financed by leasing agreements that give
rights approximating to ownership (finance leases), the
amount representing the outright purchase price is
capitalized and the corresponding leasing commitments are
shown as obligations to the lessor. The relevant assets are
depreciated in accordance with the Group’s depreciation
policy or over the lease term if shorter. Net finance charges,
calculated on the reducing balance method, are included in
interest costs.

All other leases are treated as operating leases and the
annual rentals charged to the operating profit for the year
on a straight line basis.

9 COMPENSATION FOR INDUSTRIAL DISEASE
Provision is made for compensation for industrial disease
where it is possible to estimate the liability with sufficient
reliability. As explained in Note 26, this is generally only
currently possible in respect of claims lodged and 
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outstanding at the year end. Where this is not possible, 
a contingent liability is noted. Benefit is recognized for
insurance recoveries for claims provided when they are
anticipated with virtual certainty.

10 STOCKS AND WORK IN PROGRESS
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Contracts are undertaken for customers either on 
a short or long-term basis. For short-term contracts, work
done is substantially billed as performed and for long-term
contracts, work is carried out on a substantially fixed or
limited-price basis. With respect to short-term contracts,
turnover and profit are recognized according to work
executed. Amounts taken to turnover in respect of work
done not billed are included within amounts recoverable on
contracts. Costs incurred, including an appropriate allocation
of overheads, in respect of long-term contracts are included
in work in progress net of progress payments received and
provisions for foreseeable losses. Any payments on account
or provisions for foreseeable losses in excess of contract
balances are included in creditors. Turnover and attributable
profit on long-term contracts is recognized according to the
percentage of estimated total contract value completed or
the achievement of contractual milestones provided that 
the outcome of the contract can be assessed with
reasonable certainty.

11 DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred taxation is recognized in respect of all timing
differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events have
occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay
more, or a right to pay less, tax in the future. Resultant
deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it
is considered more likely than not that there will be suitable
taxable profits from which the underlying timing differences
can be deducted, or where there are deferred tax liabilities
against which the assets can be recovered. Deferred tax is
measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the periods in which timing
differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
The cost of investments is revalued each year to the net
asset value of the Group’s subsidiaries with changes above
and below cost dealt with through the revaluation reserve
and profit and loss account reserve accordingly. Provision
has not been made for any taxation liability on capital gains
that might arise on the disposal of subsidiary undertakings
at the amount at which they are stated in the balance sheet.

13 PENSIONS AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Group operates two major pension schemes in the UK,
one is a defined benefit type and the other of the defined
contribution type. Full valuations of the defined benefit
scheme are performed every three years, using the projected
unit method.

The pension expense for defined contribution schemes
represents amounts payable in the year. Under the defined
benefit scheme any current and past service costs are
charged to operating profit and interest costs and expected

returns on assets to financing costs or income. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from new valuations and from
updating the latest actuarial valuation to reflect conditions
at the balance sheet date are recognized in the statement 
of total recognized gains and losses.

The Group continues to account for its pension schemes in
the UK in line with the requirements of FRS 17 ‘Retirement
Benefits’.

Further information is provided in note 28.

14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A derivative instrument is considered to be used for hedging
purposes when it alters the risk profile of an existing
underlying exposure of the Group in line with the Group’s
risk management policies.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage
exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates. As in previous years, it is the Group’s
policy not to trade in financial instruments.

Gains and losses on foreign currency contracts are deferred
and recognized in the profit and loss account when the
hedged transaction occurs. Gains and losses arising from 
the translational hedges of foreign currency investments 
are taken to reserves. The interest differential amount due
to/from the group on interest rate instruments are accrued
until settlement date and are recognized as an adjustment
to interest expense.

15 BORROWING COSTS
Bank borrowings are initially stated at the amount of the
consideration received after deduction of issue costs. Issue
costs together with finance costs are charged to the profit
and loss account over the term of the borrowings and
represent a constant proportion of the balance of capital
repayments outstanding.

16 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
FRS 20 ‘Accounting for share based payments’, which is
applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2006, was adopted in the year. Accordingly the
prior year results have been restated. The effect is to reduce
the profit after tax by £0.1 million for the year ended 
31 December 2005. The effect on the current year is 
to reduce the profit after tax by £0.2 million.

The Group issues equity settled share based payments to
certain employees which must be measured at fair value 
and recognized as an expense in the income statement 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair values of
these payments are measured at the dates of grant using
option pricing models, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the awards are granted. The fair
value is recognized over the period during which employees
become unconditionally entitled to the awards subject to
the Group’s estimate of the number of awards which will
lapse, either due to employees leaving the Group prior to
vesting or due to non-market based performance conditions
not being met.
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1 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
(a) Business Analysis

Profit before tax

Non-
Pre- Operating operating

exceptional exceptional exceptional Net
Turnover items items items operating

£m £m £m £m Total assets
(Note 4) (Note 5) £m £m

2006
Continuing operations
– Operating business 270.5 19.0 – – 19.0 62.0
– Acquisitions 3.5 0.4 – – 0.4 3.8
– Joint ventures 0.2 0.1 – – 0.1 (0.1)
Total operating business 274.2 19.5 – – 19.5 65.7
Head Office – (2.7) 1.0 – (1.7) 10.8
Compensation for industrial disease – (3.4) – – (3.4) (12.5)
Total continuing 274.2 13.4 1.0 – 14.4 64.0

Discontinued operations
– Cleton 21.5 0.2 – 0.2 0.4 (2.7)
– Cape Calsil – – – (0.9) (0.9) 0.7
Total discontinued 21.5 0.2 – (0.7) (0.5) (2.0)

Total operations 295.7 13.6 1.0 (0.7) 13.9 62.0
Other finance income 0.9 –
Net interest/net debt (0.4) (21.1)
Scheme funds – restricted cash – 40.1

14.4 81.0
There are no significant inter-segment sales between business units.

Profit before tax (restated)

Non-
Operating operating

Pre- exceptional exceptional Net
exceptional items items operating

Turnover items £m £m Total assets
£m £m (Note 4) (Note 5) £m £m

2005
Continuing operations
– Operating business 229.5 14.4 – 0.3 14.7 46.5
– Joint ventures 0.3 0.2 – – 0.2 –
Total operating business 229.8 14.6 – 0.3 14.9 46.5
Head Office – (1.8) (9.7) – (11.5) 3.2
Compensation for industrial disease – (4.8) – – (4.8) (14.5)
Total continuing 229.8 8.0 (9.7) 0.3 (1.4) 35.2

Discontinued operations
– Cleton 32.0 0.3 – – 0.3 4.5
– Cape Calsil – – – – – 0.8
Total discontinued 32.0 0.3 – – 0.3 5.3

Total operations 261.8 8.3 (9.7) 0.3 (1.1) 40.5
Other finance income 0.8 –
Net interest/net cash (0.7) 23.7

(1.0) 64.2
Net operating assets represents the net assets of each business unit after adjusting for Group funding loans.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS CONTINUED
(b) Geographical analysis by origin

Profit before tax

Non-
Operating operating

Pre- exceptional exceptional Net
exceptional items items operating

Turnover items £m £m Total assets
£m £m (Note 4) (Note 5) £m £m

2006
Continuing operations
– United Kingdom 199.5 2.4 1.0 – 3.4 52.7
– Continental Europe 4.3 – – – – (2.5)
– Rest of the World 70.2 10.9 – – 10.9 13.9
– Rest of the World joint ventures 0.2 0.1 – – 0.1 (0.1)
Total continuing 274.2 13.4 1.0 – 14.4 64.0

Discontinued operations
– United Kingdom – – – (0.9) (0.9) 0.8
– Continental Europe 21.5 0.2 – 0.2 0.4 (2.8)
Total discontinued 21.5 0.2 – (0.7) (0.5) (2.0)

Total operations 295.7 13.6 1.0 (0.7) 13.9 62.0
Other finance income 0.9 –
Net interest/net debt (0.4) (21.1)
Scheme funds – restricted cash – 40.1

14.4 81.0

Profit before tax (restated)

Non-
Operating operating

Pre- exceptional exceptional Net
exceptional items items operating

Turnover items £m £m Total assets
£m £m (Note 4) (Note 5) £m £m

2005
Continuing operations
– United Kingdom 165.9 1.1 (9.7) 0.3 (8.3) 24.5
– Continental Europe 4.8 (0.1) – – (0.1) (1.9)
– Rest of the World 58.8 6.8 – – 6.8 12.4
– Rest of the World joint ventures 0.3 0.2 – – 0.2 –
Total continuing 229.8 8.0 (9.7) 0.3 (1.4) 35.0

Discontinued operations
– United Kingdom – – – – – 0.9
– Continental Europe 32.0 0.3 – – 0.3 4.6
Total discontinued 32.0 0.3 – – 0.3 5.5

Total operations 261.8 8.3 (9.7) 0.3 (1.1) 40.5
Other finance income 0.8 –
Net interest/net funds (0.7) 23.7

(1.0) 64.2
Net operating assets represents the net assets of each geographical segment after adjusting for Group funding loans.
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1 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS CONTINUED
(c) Business analysis

2006 2005
Net Net

operating Group Net operating Group Net
assets funding assets assets funding assets

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
– Operating business 65.8 (28.9) 36.9 46.5 (10.4) 36.1
– Joint ventures (0.1) – (0.1) – – –
Total operating business 65.7 (28.9) 36.8 46.5 (10.4) 36.1
Head Office 10.8 6.9 17.7 3.2 (7.2) (4.0)
Compensation for industrial disease (12.5) – (12.5) (14.5) – (14.5)
Total continuing 64.0 (22.0) 42.0 35.2 (17.6) 17.6

Discontinued operations 
– Cape Calsil 0.7 7.9 8.6 0.8 9.2 10.0
– Cleton (2.7) 14.1 11.4 4.5 8.4 12.9
Total discontinued (2.0) 22.0 20.0 5.3 17.6 22.9

Total operations 62.0 – 62.0 40.5 – 40.5
Net (debt)/funds (21.1) – (21.1) 23.7 – 23.7
Scheme funds – restricted cash 40.1 – 40.1 – – –

81.0 – 81.0 64.2 – 64.2

(d) Geographical analysis by origin

2006 2005
Net Net

operating Group Net operating Group Net
assets funding assets assets funding assets

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
– United Kingdom 52.7 (23.0) 29.7 24.5 (13.0) 11.5
– Continental Europe (2.5) – (2.5) (1.9) – (1.9)
– Rest of the World 13.9 1.0 14.9 12.4 (4.6) 7.8
– Rest of the World joint ventures (0.1) – (0.1) – – –
Total continuing 64.0 (22.0) 42.0 35.0 (17.6) 17.4

Discontinued operations
– United Kingdom 0.8 (0.8) – 0.9 0.9 1.8
– Continental Europe (2.8) 22.0 19.2 4.6 15.8 20.4
– Rest of the World – 0.8 0.8 – 0.9 0.9
Total discontinued (2.0) 22.0 20.0 5.5 17.6 23.1

Total operations 62.0 – 62.0 40.5 – 40.5
Net (debt)/funds (21.1) – (21.1) 23.7 – 23.7
Scheme funds – restricted cash 40.1 – 40.1 – – –

81.0 – 81.0 64.2 – 64.2

(e) Geographical analysis of turnover by destination

2006 2005
£m £m

United Kingdom 186.1 159.5
Continental Europe 26.8 37.2
Rest of the World 82.6 64.8
Rest of the World joint ventures 0.2 0.3

295.7 261.8

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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2 OPERATING PROFIT

2006 2005
£m £m

Operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging:
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.1 0.1
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:
– the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.2 0.3
– other services 0.1 3.8
Depreciation on owned tangible fixed assets 6.0 5.1
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets under finance leases 0.9 0.9
Amortisation of goodwill 0.2 –
Rental/hire of plant and machinery 5.2 5.5
Operating leases – other 0.8 1.2
Fees of £0.1 million were paid to the auditors in the year in relation to the acquisition of DBI Group. 
These costs have been capitalized as part of the cost of investment in DBI Group.

Rental/hire of plant and machinery comprises short-term hire charges.

3 GROUP OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

2006 2005 (restated)
Pre- Exceptional Pre- Exceptional

exceptional items exceptional items
items £m Total items £m Total

Analysis of Group operating profit/(loss) £m (Note 4) £m £m (Note 4) £m

Continuing operations
Turnover 274.0 – 274.0 229.5 – 229.5
Cost of sales (253.8) – (253.8) (214.3) – (214.3)
Gross profit 20.2 – 20.2 15.2 – 15.2
Net operating expenses (6.9) 1.0 (5.9) (7.4) (9.7) (17.1)
Operating profit/(loss) 13.3 1.0 14.3 7.8 (9.7) (1.9)

Discontinued operations
Turnover 21.5 – 21.5 32.0 – 32.0
Cost of sales (21.3) – (21.3) (31.7) – (31.7)
Gross profit 0.2 – 0.2 0.3 – 0.3
Net operating expenses – – – – – –
Operating profit 0.2 – 0.2 0.3 – 0.3

Group operating profit/(loss) 13.5 1.0 14.5 8.1 (9.7) (1.6)
Within the continuing operations, acquisitions contributed £3.5 million of turnover with costs of sale of £3.1 million. 
The gross profit of £0.4 million is equal to the operating profit.

Net operating expenses comprise wholly of administrative costs.

4 OPERATING EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2006 2005
The operating exceptional items comprise: £m £m

Continuing:
Credit/(costs) relating to Scheme of arrangement 1.0 (9.7)
The cash outflow relating to the above exceptional items was £4.5 million (2005: £4.4 million).

The tax effect of the operating exceptional item is a tax charge of £0.3 million (2005: credit of £2.9 million).
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5 NON-OPERATING EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2006 2005
The non-operating exceptional items comprise: Note £m £m

Continuing:
Profit on sale of Sutton Coldfield depot – 0.3
Discontinued:
Cape Calsil – additional costs relating to the disposal of the sale of Calsil business (0.9) –
Loss on disposal of Continental European operating business (after recycling of goodwill) 22(f) (1.6) –
Loss on disposal of business (2.5) –

Profit on sale of Cleton properties 1.8 –

Total discontinued (0.7) –
On 20 July 2006, the Group disposed of the trade and certain business assets of Cleton, its operating business based in the
Netherlands, Belgium and Germany. This has resulted in a withdrawal from the Continental European market and as such 
the disposal has been treated as a discontinued operation in the profit and loss account.

On 7 November 2006 the freehold properties located in the Netherlands, formerly used in the Cleton business, were sold resulting
in a profit on disposal of £1.8 million.

The tax effect of the non-operating exceptional items is a tax charge of £0.5 million (2005: £nil).

6 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2006 2005
Note £000 £000

The aggregate emoluments of the Directors of the parent Company were:
Remuneration 953 598
Sums paid to third parties for Directors’ services 29 160 102

1,113 700
Highest paid Director:
Aggregate emoluments 462 325
Defined benefit pension scheme:

Accrued pension entitlement at end of year – 169
The full content of information required to be included in order to complete the Notes to the Financial Statements with regard 
to Directors’ interests in Cape PLC’s share option schemes can be found in the Directors’ Report.

Retirement benefits are accruing to one (2005: two) Director under the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme.

During the year no Directors (2005: none) exercized share options.
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7 EMPLOYEES

Group Company
(a) Average number of employees 2006 2005 2006 2005
(including Executive Directors) by business: Notes Number Number Number Number

Operating business 7,985 7,672 – –
Head Office 17 14 17 14

8,002 7,686 17 14
Geographically:
United Kingdom 3,199 3,111 17 14
Continental Europe 349 541 – –
Rest of the World 4,454 4,034 – –

8,002 7,686 17 14

2006 2005 2006 2005
(b) Employment costs, including Directors’ emoluments: £m £m £m £m

Wages and salaries 148.0 124.6 0.7 0.7
Social security costs 14.2 12.2 0.3 0.1
Other pension costs 28 1.6 2.1 0.3 0.4
Costs of employee share scheme 20c 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.2

164.2 139.1 1.7 1.4

8 NET INTEREST PAYABLE

2006 2005
£m £m

Interest receivable 1.3 0.3
Interest payable
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (1.4) (0.7)
Interest payable on finance leases (0.2) (0.1)
Other interest payable (0.1) (0.2)

(1.7) (1.0)

Net interest payable (0.4) (0.7)

9 TAX ON PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

2006 2005
£m £m

Current tax – United Kingdom
Corporation tax at 30.0% (2005: 30.0%) 0.2 –
Double tax relief (0.2) –
Adjustment in respect of prior periods – (0.5)
Current tax – Overseas 
Corporation taxes 2.6 1.2
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 0.1 0.3
Total current tax 2.7 1.0

Deferred tax – United Kingdom
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1.4 (1.3)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (0.6) (0.8)

0.8 (2.1)
Deferred tax – Overseas
Origination and reversal of timing differences (0.2) (0.1)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (0.2) 0.2

(0.4) 0.1

Total deferred tax 0.4 (2.0)
Tax charge/(credit) on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 3.1 (1.0)
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9 TAX ON PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES CONTINUED
The current tax charge for the period is lower (2005: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30.0%). 
The differences are explained below:

2006 2005
£m £m

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax 14.4 (1.0)
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30.0% 

(2005: 30.0%) 4.3 (0.3)
Effects of:
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods 0.1 (0.2)
Adjustment in respect of overseas tax rates (2.1) (1.9)
Tax on overseas dividends, no double tax relief available – 1.2
Expenses non-deductible 0.7 0.2
Historic goodwill reinstated during the year, non-deductible 0.6 –
Origination and reversal of timing differences (1.2) 1.4
Deferred tax assets not recognized 0.2 0.3
Unrelieved overseas taxation 0.1 0.3

2.7 1.0

10 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
The basic earnings per share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2006 is based on the earnings (after tax and dividends 
on the 3.5% cumulative preference shares) of £11.3 million (2005: £nil million) divided by the weighted average number 
of ordinary 25p shares of 83,523,010 (2005: 67,183,916).

The diluted earnings per share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2006 is based on the earnings (after tax and dividends
on the 3.5% cumulative preference shares) of £11.3 million (2005: £nil million) divided by the weighted average number 
of ordinary 25p shares of 84,808,505 (2005: 67,939,577).

Share options are considered potentially dilutive as the average share price during the year was above the average exercise prices.

2006 2005
Shares Shares

Basic weighted average number of shares 83,523,010 67,183,916
Adjustments:
Weighted average number of outstanding share options 1,285,495 755,661
Diluted weighted average number of shares 84,808,505 67,939,577
An adjusted basic earnings per share has been calculated which excludes the effects of operating and non-operating exceptional
items. It is calculated by dividing the adjusted earnings (after tax and dividends on the 3.5% cumulative preference shares) of
£11.8 million (2005: £6.5 million) by the weighted average number of ordinary 25p shares of 83,523,010 (2005: 67,183,916). 
The adjusted numbers have been provided in order that the effects of exceptional items on reported earnings can be fully
appreciated, and has been calculated as follows:

2006 2005
Earnings EPS Earnings EPS

Basic earnings per share £m pence £m pence

Continuing operations 12.2 14.6 (0.1) (0.1)
Discontinued operations (0.9) (1.1) 0.1 0.1
Basic earnings per share 11.3 13.5 – –
Adjustments:
Operating exceptional items (1.0) (1.2) 9.7 14.4
Non-operating exceptional items 0.7 0.8 (0.3) (0.5)
Tax effect of exceptional items 0.8 0.9 (2.9) (4.3)
Adjusted basic earnings per share 11.8 14.0 6.5 9.6
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10 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE CONTINUED

2006 2005
Earnings EPS Earnings EPS

Diluted earnings per share £m pence £m pence

Continuing operations 12.2 14.4 (0.1) (0.1)
Discontinuing operations (0.9) (1.1) 0.1 0.1
Diluted earnings per share 11.3 13.3 – –
Adjustments:
Operating exceptional items (1.0) (1.2) 9.7 14.3
Non-operating exceptional items 0.7 0.8 (0.3) (0.5)
Tax effect of operating exceptional items 0.8 0.9 (2.9) (4.3)
Adjusted diluted earnings per share 11.8 13.8 6.5 9.5

11 FIXED ASSETS

(a) Intangible assets (goodwill) £m

Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2006 0.7
Additions (see note 22e) 14.6
At 31 December 2006 15.3

Amortisation:
At 1 January 2006 0.1
Provided for the period 0.2
At 31 December 2006 0.3
Net book value:
At 31 December 2006 15.0
At 31 December 2005 0.6

Plant,
machinery,

Land and fixtures and
Total buildings fittings

(b) Tangible assets £m £m £m

Group
Cost or valuation:
At 1 January 2006 69.6 12.1 57.5
Exchange adjustments (2.7) (0.1) (2.6)
Additions at cost 12.0 0.2 11.8
Acquisitions 2.0 – 2.0
Disposals (11.9) (3.5) (8.4)
At 31 December 2006 69.0 8.7 60.3
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2006 40.2 3.5 36.7
Exchange adjustments (1.9) (0.1) (1.8)
Provided during the year 6.9 0.4 6.5
Disposals (8.2) (2.4) (5.8)
At 31 December 2006 37.0 1.4 35.6
Net book amounts:
At 31 December 2006 32.0 7.3 24.7
At 31 December 2005 29.4 8.6 20.8
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11 FIXED ASSETS CONTINUED

Group
2006 2005

£m £m

(i) The net book amount of land and buildings comprises:
Freehold 6.4 7.5
Long leasehold – 0.2
Short leasehold 0.9 0.9

7.3 8.6

(ii) The net book amount of group freehold land and buildings at 31 December 2006 includes £3.4 million 
(2005: £4.1 million) of depreciable assets.

(iii) The total cost or valuation of land and buildings comprises:
At cost 6.5 6.7
At 1992 professional valuation, frozen on implementation of FRS 15 2.2 5.4

8.7 12.1

(iv) Historical cost figures for land and buildings:
Historical cost 6.7 9.9
Aggregate depreciation (1.4) (3.6)
Net book amounts based on historic cost 5.3 6.3

(v) Included in plant and machinery are the following assets which are held under finance leases:
Net book amount 4.4 2.4
Aggregate depreciation 2.7 1.6
The Company did not own any fixed assets at the end of the year (2005: £nil).

12 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Group undertakings
Total Shares Loans

Company £m £m £m

Cost or valuation at 1 January 2006 83.5 79.8 3.7
Reversal of provision charged to profit and loss account 0.3 0.3 –
Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments in subsidiary undertakings 14.3 14.3 –
Cost or valuation at 31 December 2006 98.1 94.4 3.7

Total Shares Loans
Included within the above are the following movements on provisions: £m £m £m

At 1 January 2006 (38.1) (32.8) (5.3)
Reversal of provision charged to profit and loss account 0.3 0.3 –
Provision at 31 December 2006 (37.8) (32.5) (5.3)
If investments in shares in subsidiary undertakings had not been revalued they would have been included at the following amounts:

2006 2005
£m £m

Cost 66.6 66.6
Aggregate amounts provided (32.5) (32.8)
Net book value 34.1 33.8
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12 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
The principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2006, which are all included in the consolidation, are shown on page 76. 
All subsidiary undertakings prepare statutory accounts to 31 December except DBI Group Limited and its subsidiary undertakings
which last prepared annual accounts to 30 September 2006. The financial statements of these subsidiaries have been consolidated 
on the basis of interim financial statements for the period to 31 December 2006. The accounting reference date will be aligned
with that of Cape PLC once the earn-out period has ended.

2006 2005
Group £m £m

Interest in joint ventures
Continuing operations

– Share of gross assets 0.1 0.2
– Share of gross liabilities – –

0.1 0.2

The movement in the interest in joint ventures is attributable to the Group’s share of operating profit of joint ventures of
£0.1million (2005: £0.2 million) offset by dividends received from joint ventures of £0.2 million (2005: £0.5 million).

The Group has a 51% interest in the Cape Modern Pty joint venture incorporated in Australia for the manufacture and installation
of commercial air-conditioning systems and thermal insulation.

The Group has a 51% interest in the Cape Perlite Systems joint venture incorporated in the United Kingdom for the manufacture
of Perlite insulation products.

The Group has a 51% interest in Cape C.I.S.L. joint venture incorporated in Trinidad for the provision of insulation services.

The Group has a 50% interest in Orascom Cape joint venture incorporated in Egypt for the provision of insulation and 
scaffolding services.

The Group has a 50% interest in Orascom Cape WLL, a joint venture incorporated in Bahrain for the provision of insulation services. 

The Group’s share of net liabilities of joint ventures is included within other creditors (see note 17).

13 STOCKS

Group
2006 2005

£m £m

Contract work in progress 3.9 13.7
Less: progress payments received and receivable – (9.2)
Contract balances 3.9 4.5
Raw materials and consumables 4.4 5.4

8.3 9.9
Payments received on account in excess of the value of the work performed on the related contract are included within creditors
(see note 17).

14 DEBTORS

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Note £m £m £m £m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 55.8 51.5 – –
Amounts recoverable on contracts 12.7 11.4 – –
Amounts owed by joint ventures 0.2 0.3 – –
Other debtors 6.6 6.5 0.4 0.5
Payroll and other taxes, including social security – – – 0.3
UK taxation – – 1.5 3.1
Prepayments and accrued income 2.9 1.9 0.5 0.5
Deferred tax 15 5.4 5.9 1.9 2.4

83.6 77.5 4.3 6.8
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15 DEFERRED TAXATION

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes £m £m £m £m

Deferred taxation asset comprises:
Short-term timing differences 1.0 0.7 0.7 0.5
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 3.0 3.5 – –
Losses 1.2 1.9 1.2 1.9
Overseas tax 0.2 (0.2) – –
Deferred taxation asset included in debtors 5.4 5.9 1.9 2.4
Deferred tax liability on pension asset 28 (4.6) (2.2) (4.6) (2.4)

0.8 3.7 (2.7) –
Net deferred taxation asset/(liability):
At 1 January 3.7 2.2 – 0.1
Transfer in on acquisition (0.2) – – –
Amount credited/(debited) to profit and loss account 9 (0.4) 2.0 (0.5) 0.5
Amount debited to statement of total recognized gains and losses (2.3) (0.5) (2.2) (0.6)
At 31 December 0.8 3.7 (2.7) –
The Group has no unprovided deferred tax liability arising on timing differences between the treatment of items for accounts 
and taxation purposes at 31 December 2006 (2005: £nil). The Group has an unrecognized deferred tax asset of £1.1 million
(2005: £1.1 million) arising on losses and timing differences in certain subsidiary undertakings which has not been recognized 
as there is uncertainty in respect of its future recoverability.

Tax relief is available in respect of trading losses carried forward amounting to approximately £6.0 million (2005: £7.4 million)
subject to agreement with the tax authorities. The losses carried forward are in certain entities and can only be utilized against
future profits of those entities.

Deferred taxation has not been provided in the event of the distribution of the unappropriated profits or reserves of certain
overseas subsidiary undertakings as the Group does not currently intend to make such distributions.

Advance corporation tax written off to date amounts to £1.7 million (2005: £1.7 million) and is available for offset against future
United Kingdom corporation tax liabilities subject to certain conditions being met. The future benefit of advance corporation 
tax has not been accounted for in the provision of deferred taxation as its recoverability is uncertain.

The unrecognized deferred tax balance in the Company is £nil million (2005: £nil).

As part of the 2007 budget, the Chancellor announced a number of prospective changes to certain UK tax rules. This includes
reducing the corporation tax from 30% to 28%.

The financial effect of this change on deferred tax as at 31 December 2006 would be to reduce the deferred tax asset by 
£0.3 million, reduce the deferred tax liability on the pension asset by £0.3 million and increase the charge to the profit and 
loss by £0.3 million.

16 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND
(i) Cape Claims Services Limited (‘CCS’) is the Scheme company in which asbestos-related liabilities and the associated 

Scheme funding is accounted for. Under the terms of the Scheme, there is a funding agreement between Cape PLC 
and CCS under which Cape PLC has provided CCS with initial funding of £40 million. The funds held by CCS of 
£40.1 million (31 December 2005: £nil) are restricted for use primarily in settling the Group’s UK asbestos-related liabilities.

(ii) The cash at bank and in hand for the Company and the Group contains £nil million (2005: £1.5 million) held in a trust
account. These monies were intended to have been used solely for the settlement of any potential future industrial disease
claims from the employees that transferred to Promat Glasgow Limited under the sale agreement regarding the Cape Calsil
business in 2002. They exercised their contractual right, following the commencement of the Scheme, to have the sum held
in the trust account paid to them.

(iii) In the Netherlands there is a restriction on a £0.7 million (2005: £0.2 million) balance held to pay the tax authority 
and social security. 
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17 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes £m £m £m £m

Finance leases 18 & 23 1.5 0.9 – –
Bank loans 18 & 23 5.6 – 2.6 –
Bank overdrafts 18 & 23 6.2 0.9 4.0 –
Short-term borrowings 23 13.3 1.8 6.6 –
Other creditors:
Payments received on account 5.5 6.5 – –
Trade creditors 16.0 17.3 – –
Payroll and other taxes, including social security 11.5 9.6 – –
UK taxation 0.5 0.5 – –
Overseas taxation 2.8 1.7 – –
Other creditors 17.0 11.3 0.6 1.6
Accruals and deferred income 19.7 16.3 0.3 0.9

73.0 63.2 0.9 2.5
86.3 65.0 7.5 2.5

Other creditors include £0.2 million (2005: £0.2 million) in respect of the Group’s share of the liabilities of its joint venture
undertakings and £6.0 million (2005: £nil) in respect of deferred consideration.

18 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Note £m £m £m £m

Long-term borrowings:
Finance leases 23 2.7 1.7 – –
Bank loans 23 20.4 – 9.9 –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 46.0 19.4

23.1 1.7 55.9 19.4
The bank loans and overdrafts of £32.7 million are secured by fixed and floating charges over the UK assets of the Group 
(2005: £0.9 million secured over assets of the Continental European Group Companies). Bank loans are stated net of unamortized
issue costs of £0.5 million (2005: £nil). The Group incurred issue costs of £0.5 million in respect of the five year facility entered 
into in October 2006 under which amounts have been drawn down to fund the acquisition of DBI Group. These issue costs
together with the interest expense are allocated to the profit and loss account over the five year term of the facility at a constant
rate on the carrying amount.

Group
2006 2005

Note £m £m

The finance lease obligations fall due as follows:
Amounts falling due within one year 17 1.5 0.9
Amounts falling due between one and two years 1.4 0.8
Amounts falling due between two and five years 1.3 0.9

4.2 2.6
Finance leases are at the weighted average interest rate of 4.6% (2005: 4.6%) over an average period to termination of 2.5 years
(2005: 3.0 years).
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19 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Compensation 
for industrial Other

disease provisions
Total (i) (ii)

Group £m £m £m

At 1 January 2006 19.2 12.1 7.1
Charge to profit and loss account 3.6 3.0 0.6
Released to profit and loss account (1.0) – (1.0)
Reclassified from other creditors 0.3 – 0.3
Utilized in the year (7.2) (4.2) (3.0)
At 31 December 2006 14.9 10.9 4.0

Company
At 1 January 2006 11.0 4.9 6.1
Charge to profit and loss account 1.8 2.3 (0.5)
Reclassified from other creditors 0.3 – 0.3
Utilized in the year (4.2) (1.3) (2.9)
At 31 December 2006 8.9 5.9 3.0
(i) The charge to profit for the compensation for industrial disease in the year net of insurance recoveries is £3.0 million 

(2005: net charge of £4.6 million). The provision for industrial disease represents the expected costs of settling notified claims.
It is anticipated that most of these claims will be paid within the next two years. Insurance recoveries of £2.4 million 
(2005: £2.6 million) are receivable against certain of these claims and are included in the Balance Sheet under ‘other debtors’.
The basis for the provision and the contingent liability in respect of future settlements is described in note 26 (i).

(ii) Other provisions relate to the decision made in 2002 to sell and close the Calsil business and provisions for property
dilapidations, national insurance on share options and costs associated with the Scheme of Arrangement. £2.0 million of the
provisions are expected to be utilized within the next two years and the balance over the longer term as the provisions crystalize.

20 SHARE CAPITAL

2006 2005
£m £m

(a) Authorized
105,683,762 ordinary shares of 25p each (2005: 105,683,762 ordinary shares of 25p) 26.4 26.4
250,000 3.5% cumulative preference shares of £1 each (2005: 250,000) 0.3 0.3
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each (2005: 431,906,031) 4.3 4.3
1 PLC scheme share (2005: 1) – –

31.0 31.0

2006 2005
£m £m

(b) Called up, fully paid and allotted
83,523,010 ordinary shares of 25p each (2005: 83,523,010) 20.9 20.9
250,000 3.5% cumulative preference shares of £1 each (2005: 250,000) 0.3 0.3
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each (2005: 431,906,031) 4.3 4.3
1 PLC scheme share (2005: nil) – –

25.5 25.5
On 23 April 2007, Cape’s shareholders approved the placing of 26,923,077 ordinary shares of 25p each at a placing price of
£2.60 per share raising approximately £70 million before expenses. Further details of the placing can be found in note 30.



CAPE PLC  ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2006 59

20 SHARE CAPITAL CONTINUED
(c) Share based payments
The Group has in issue a savings related share option scheme (‘Sharesave plan’) which entitles employees of the Group to buy
shares in the Company. Grants of share options under this scheme are offered to employees periodically and the options are
usually awarded at a 20 per cent discount to the market price at the date of grant. These options must be exercised within 6
months of the vesting date.

The Employee Incentive plan allows the Group to grant options to Directors and senior employees. The Employee Incentive plan
carries a non-market based performance criteria. The contractual life of the options is 10 years. The options become exercisable 
on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to a growth in earnings per share over that period exceeding an average 
3% compounded annually above the growth in the consumer price index over the same period. Exercise of an option is subject 
to continued employment.

Options were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In accordance with transitional provisions of FRS 20 ‘Share
based payment’, the recognition and measurement provisions of FRS 20 have not been applied to options granted or shares
awarded prior to 2 November 2002. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculation for the 
current and preceding year are as follows:

Employee
incentive plan Sharesave plan

2006 2005 2006 2006

Weighted average fair value at measurement date 59.0p 40.8p 61.9p 74.5p
Share price at grant date 176p 127.5p 167.5p 167.5p
Exercise price 176p 120p 135p 135p
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years 5 years
Expected option life 4.7 years 3.9 years 3.25 years 5.25 years
Risk free interest rate 4.75% 4.3% 4.75% 4.75%
Expected share price volatility 29% 29% 29% 29%
The expected share price volatility is based on historic volatility. The expected option life is the average expected period to exercise.
The risk free rate of return is the yield on 5 year zero coupon UK Government bonds. The assumed dividend yield is zero.

The number and weighted average exercise price of the share options under the Sharesave plan and Employee Incentive plan are 
as follows:

Weighted Weighted 
average average 

exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
2006 options 2005 options

Employee Incentive plan pence 2006 pence 2005

Outstanding at 1 January 80 1,920,000 60 1,280,000
Granted 176 1,225,000 120 640,000
Forfeited 90 (220,000) – –
Outstanding at 31 December 119.5 2,925,000 80 1,920,000

Weighted Weighted 
average average 

exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
2006 options 2005 options

Sharesave plan pence 2006 pence 2005

Outstanding at 1 January 68 41,873 68 52,093
Granted 135 1,262,653 – –
Exercised – – 68 (10,220)
Lapsed 68 (41,873) – –
Outstanding at 31 December 135 1,262,653 68 41,873
The total charge for the year relating to employee share based payment plans was £0.4 million (2005: £0.2 million), all of 
which related to equity settled share based payment transactions. After deferred tax, the total charge was £0.3 million 
(2005: £0.1 million).

Further details of the Employee Incentive plan are shown in the Directors’ Report on page 25.
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20 SHARE CAPITAL CONTINUED
(d) 3.5% cumulative preference shares 
Dividend rights: Fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the rate of 3.5% per annum payable half yearly in arrears on 
31 March and 30 September. The dividends are being deferred until the Company has distributable reserves from which 
to pay the dividends.

Redemption of shares: The shares have no redemption entitlement.

Winding up: On a winding up the holders have priority before all other classes of share to receive repayment of capital 
plus all arrears of dividend.

Voting rights: The holders have no voting rights unless the dividend is in arrears by six months or more.

(e) Deferred shares
Dividend rights, redemption of shares and voting rights: The holders have no dividend rights, no redemption entitlement 
and no voting rights.

Winding up: On a winding up the holders are entitled to repayment of capital only after ordinary shareholders have received
£100 for each ordinary share.

(f) PLC Scheme Share
In order to protect the interests of creditors under the Scheme, a special voting share exists in Cape PLC. The rights attaching 
to the share are designed to ensure that Scheme assets are only used to settle Scheme claims and ancillary costs and impose
restrictions on dividends and other distributions by the Company.

The PLC Scheme Share is held by Law Debenture Trust Corporation plc as an independent third party on trust for Scheme
creditors.

The share, which was allotted at par during the year, has the following rights:

Rights to a distribution and return of capital: it does not confer any right to receive a distribution or return of surplus capital save
that the holder has the right to require the Company to redeem the share at par value on or at any time after the termination 
of the Scheme.

Voting rights: the share carries two votes for every vote which the holders of the other classes of shares in issue are entitled to
exercise on any resolution proposed during the life of the Scheme to engage in certain activities specified in the Company’s
articles of association.

Other rights: the Company is not permitted to engage in certain activities specified in the Company’s articles of association
without the prior consent of the holder of the share.
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21 RESERVES

Share Profit
premium Revaluation and loss

Total account reserve account
Group £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2006 38.7 25.0 2.2 11.5
Currency translation differences net of tax on foreign currency net investments (2.2) – – (2.2)
Profit for the year 11.3 – – 11.3
Adjustment in respect of employee share scheme 0.4 – – 0.4
Transfer on sale of properties – – (0.2) 0.2
Recycling of historic goodwill previously written off to reserves 1.9 – – 1.9
Actuarial gain on pension schemes 7.7 – – 7.7
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension assets (2.3) – – (2.3)
At 31 December 2006 55.5 25.0 2.0 28.5

Company
At 1 January 2006 38.7 25.0 45.9 (32.2)
Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments in subsidiary undertakings 14.3 – 14.3 –
Loss for the year (43.1) – – (43.1)
Adjustment in respect of employee share scheme 0.4 – – 0.4
Actuarial gain on pension scheme 7.4 – – 7.4
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension assets (2.2) – – (2.2)
At 31 December 2006 15.5 25.0 60.2 (69.7)

2006 2005
Group £m £m

Profit and loss reserve comprises:
Profit and loss account excluding pension asset 17.6 6.2
Pension asset 10.9 5.3
Profit and loss reserve 28.5 11.5
The cumulative goodwill charged to reserves at 31 December 2006 was £7.3 million (2005: £9.2 million). This goodwill has been
eliminated as a matter of accounting policy. It will be charged or credited in the profit and loss account on subsequent disposal 
of the business to which it relates.

Included in the Group profit and loss account is a loss of £0.6 million (2005: profit of £0.5 million) in relation to foreign currency
borrowings.

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 no separate profit and loss account is presented for the Company. 
Of the Group profit for the year, a loss of £43.1 million (2005: loss of £8.8 million) is dealt with in the financial statements of 
the Company. Of this loss for the year, £40.0 million relates to the write off of the loan that was made to Cape Claim Services
Limited under the Scheme.
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22 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) Reconciliation of Group operating profit to net operating cash flow from operating activities

2005 
2006 (restated)

Continuing operations £m £m

Group operating profit/(loss) 14.3 (1.9)
Depreciation charge on fixed assets 6.8 5.5
Amortisation of goodwill 0.2 –
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions – 0.1
Share option charge 0.4 0.2
(Increase)/decrease in stocks (2.3) 0.1
Increase in debtors (10.9) (11.6)
Increase in creditors 8.0 12.4
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (excluding deferred tax) (3.1) 3.0
Payment of scheme creditors 0.9 –
Net cash inflow from continuing operations 14.3 7.8

Discontinued operations
Operating profit 0.2 0.3
Depreciation charge 0.1 0.5
Increase in stocks (0.9) (0.1)
Decrease in debtors 6.1 0.8
Decrease in creditors (4.6) (2.1)
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (excluding deferred tax) (1.5) 0.1
Net cash outflow from discontinued operations (0.6) (0.5)
Total net cash inflow from operating activities before scheme funding 13.7 7.3
Transfer to restricted cash – Scheme funding (40.0) –
Total net cash outflow from operating activities (26.3) 7.3

(b) Analysis of tax paid
UK corporation tax – 0.1
Overseas tax (1.4) (1.0)

(1.4) (0.9)

(c) Analysis of cash flows relating to restricted funds
Scheme funding transfer from cash 40.0 –
Payment of scheme creditors (0.9) –
Interest received 1.0 –

40.1 –

(d) Reconciliation of movement in net debt

At 31 New At
December Cash finance Exchange 1 January

2006 flow leases movements 2006
Notes £m £m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 16 15.3 (11.3) – (0.6) 27.2
Bank overdrafts  17 (6.2) (5.3) – – (0.9)

9.1 (16.6) – (0.6) 26.3
Debt due within one year 17 (5.6) (5.6) – – –
Debt due after 1 year 18 (20.4) (20.4) – – –
Finance leases 17 & 18 (4.2) 1.5 (3.1) – (2.6)
Net (debt)/funds (21.1) (41.1) (3.1) (0.6) 23.7
Scheme funds – restricted 40.1 40.1 – – –
Net funds including restricted cash 19.0 (1.0) (3.1) (0.6) 23.7
The cash at bank and in hand above includes £0.7 million (2005: £1.7 million) for which there is a restricted use, as explained in
note 16. Net debt includes £0.5 million of unamortized debt issue costs.
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22 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT CONTINUED
(e) Acquisitions
The Group acquired DBI Group Limited and its subsidiary undertakings, DBI Industrial Services Limited and DBI Offshore Services
Limited, on 18 October 2006 for an initial consideration of £11.0 million, with additional deferred contingent consideration
estimated at £6.0 million after discounting. Acquisition accounting has been applied to the purchase.

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2006 DBI Group contributed £3.5 million to Group turnover and £0.6 million 
to operating profit before goodwill amortization. DBI Group contributed £0.5m to the Group’s operating net cash flows. In the
last financial year to 30 September 2006, the two trading companies acquired made a profit after tax of £0.6 million. An analysis
of the book and provisional fair values is as follows:

DBI Group acquisition Book and fair value £m 

Tangible fixed assets 2.0
Stock 0.2
Debtors 4.1
Creditors (2.5)
Deferred tax (0.2)
Overdrafts and invoice discounting (1.2)
Net assets acquired 2.4
Goodwill 14.6

Consideration 17.0

Consideration is analysed as follows:
Initial consideration – Cash (including fees of £0.6 million) 11.0
Deferred contingent consideration 6.0

17.0

The book values have been taken from the statutory accounts of DBI Group Limited, DBI Industrial Services Limited and DBI
Offshore Limited as at 30 September 2006 and have been adjusted for the trading results and balance sheet movements between 
1 October and 18 October 2006. The provisional fair value of net assets acquired has been taken as the book value as at 
18 October, these fair values will be finalized in the 2007 financial statements. The profit after tax in the period from 1 October
2006 to 18 October 2006 was £0.1 million and the profit after tax for the year ended 30 September 2006 was £0.6 million.

The maximum total deferred contingent consideration is £7.25 million and is based on the performance of the acquired business 
for the years ended 30 September 2007 and 2008 with the majority based upon the 2007 earnings. The consideration will be 
met by loan notes of up to £3.4 million with the remainder taking the form of cash and share options. This deferred contingent
consideration has been discounted at a rate of 6.1% and a liability recognized in other creditors.

Initial estimates of the deferred contingent consideration will be revised as further and more certain information becomes
available, with corresponding adjustments to goodwill.

(f) Disposal
On 20 July 2006, the Group disposed of the trade and business assets of the Group’s operating businesses in the Netherlands,
Germany and Belgium. 

Cleton disposal Note £m 

Tangible fixed assets 2.0
Stock 4.7
Creditors (1.6)
Goodwill previously written off to reserves 1.9

7.0
Loss on disposal 5 (1.6)
Consideration – cash 5.4
Cleton contributed £0.9 million to the net operating cash flows and paid £0.2 million in respect of taxation.

(g) Cash flow relating to exceptional items and major non-cash transactions
Specific items within the operating cash flows relate to the operating exceptional items shown in note 4.
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Foreign currency risk
The Group faces currency exposures on trading transactions undertaken by its subsidiaries in foreign currencies and on
transactional exposures. In order to manage transactional exchange risk the Group uses forward currency contracts to hedge
significant non-local currency commitments or anticipated transactions. The decision to hedge is influenced by the size of the
exposure, the certainty of it arising and the current exchange rate. At the year end, there was one significant forward contract in
existence to manage transactional exchange risk. This is described further in sub-note (g).

The Group policy in respect of foreign currency assets is twofold. Firstly to designate relevant intra-group foreign currency loans 
as hedges against assets held in those currencies. Secondly, given the basket of currencies which make up the remaining foreign
currency assets and the inherent natural hedge therein, it is thought unnecessary to enter into additional external hedges. 
This policy is subject to regular review.

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations mainly through bank borrowings. Bank borrowings can be denominated in any currency and
bear interest rates at the appropriate currency rate. All year-end borrowings are drawn in sterling (2005: euros) and bear interest
at floating rates. The Group has entered into derivative contracts during the year to hedge the interest rate exposure on between
66% and 100% of the Group’s outstanding bank facilities.

In accordance with the requirements of FRS 13 the following information is given to provide a clear understanding of the Group’s
treasury position. As allowed under the Standard, other than currency risk disclosures, certain short-term debtors, creditors and
provisions have been excluded from the figures.

(a) Interest rate risk and currency profile of financial assets
The Group’s financial assets comprise cash. This earned interest at fixed rates of between 0% and 5.0% (2005: fixed rates of
between 0% and 4.75%) on UK balances and at rates between 0% and 3% (2005: 0% to 3%) on international balances.

2006 2005
£m £m

Analysis of financial assets by major currency at 31 December:
Euro 5.0 1.1
UK Sterling 3.6 20.2
UAE Dirham 0.6 0.8
Omani Rials 0.3 0.5
Bahraini Dinar 0.2 0.1
Saudi Arabian Riyal 1.2 0.5
United States Dollar 2.4 1.8
Singapore Dollar – 0.2
Thai Baht 0.5 0.3
Kuwaiti Dinar 0.1 –
Malaysian Ringgit – 0.1
Philippine Peso 0.1 0.1
Qatar Riyal 0.3 0.7
Trinidad and Tobago Dollar – 0.1
Kazakhstan Tenge 0.3 0.2
Azerbaijan Manat 0.3 0.1
Maltese Lira 0.1 0.1
Russian Rouble 0.2 0.2
Australian Dollar 0.1 –
Other currencies – 0.1

15.3 27.2
UK Sterling – restricted cash 40.1 –

55.4 27.2
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
(b) Interest rate risk and currency profile of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities comprise bank loans, overdrafts, finance leases, cumulative preference shares and certain
provisions. Bank overdrafts are at a floating interest rate of 1.75% (2005: floating interest rate of between 1.5% and 1.75%) 
over LIBOR rate and bank loans are at a floating rate of 1.75% over LIBOR (2005: 2% over LIBOR). The Group has entered into
derivative contracts during the year to hedge the interest rate exposure on between 66% and 100% of the Group’s outstanding
bank facilities. Under the derivative instruments the maximum LIBOR rate used to base borrowing costs on is capped at 6.5%.
Certain of the Group’s provisions for liabilities and charges meet the definition of financial liabilities as shown in note 19. These
have been excluded from the financial liabilities disclosures, however they are all denominated in sterling, are non-interest bearing
and their maturity profiles are disclosed within the narrative information of note 19.

The weighted average interest rate for the fixed rate finance leases is disclosed in note 18. The 3.5% cumulative preference
shares have no redemption entitlement other than on a winding up of the Company.

2006 2005
£m £m

Analysis of financial liabilities by major currency at 31 December:
£ Sterling

– bank loans and overdrafts 32.2 –
– finance leases 4.2 2.6
– cumulative preference shares 0.3 0.3

Euro bank overdraft – 0.9
36.7 3.8

All the Group’s creditors falling due within one year (other than bank loans and overdrafts and finance leases) are excluded from
the table above either due to the exclusion of short-term items or because they do not meet the definition of a financial liability,
such as tax balances.

(c) Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Group’s financial liabilities, other than short-term trade creditors, accruals and
the cumulative preference shares at 31 December was as follows:

Bank loans Finance
and overdrafts leases Total

2006 £m £m £m

In one year or less, or on demand 11.8 1.5 13.3
In more than one year but not more than two years 5.6 1.4 7.0
In more than two years but not more than five years 14.8 1.3 16.1

32.2 4.2 36.4

Bank loans Finance
and overdrafts leases Total

2005 £m £m £m

In one year or less, or on demand 0.9 0.9 1.8
In more than one year but not more than two years – 0.8 0.8
In more than two years but not more than five years – 0.9 0.9

0.9 2.6 3.5
The above analysis for the Group does not include the preference shares and provisions for liabilities and charges referred to above.
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
(d) Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 December in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met at that date:

2006 2005
Floating rate Floating rate

£m £m

Expiring within one year – 6.9
Expiring in more than two years 26.3 15.0

26.3 21.9

(e) Currency exposures
The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than their
local currency. Foreign exchange differences on re-translation of these assets and liabilities are taken to the profit and loss account
of the Group Companies and the Group.

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)
Other

GBP US$ Euro currencies Total
£m £m £m £m £m

2006
Functional currency of Group operation:
UK Sterling – 4.1 0.1 – 4.2
UAE Dirham – 0.1 0.1 – 0.2
Egyptian Pound – 0.1 – – 0.1
Indian Rupee – 0.1 – – 0.1
Philippine Peso – 1.7 – 0.1 1.8
Qatar Riyal – 0.1 – – 0.1
Kazakhstan Tenge – 0.3 – – 0.3
Azerbaijan Manat – (0.1) – – (0.1)
Bahraini Dinar – 0.2 – (0.1) 0.1
Saudi Riyal – 1.3 (0.3) – 1.0
Russian Rouble – 2.7 – – 2.7
Total – 10.6 (0.1) – 10.5

2005
Functional currency of Group operation:
UK Sterling – 0.6 0.9 0.3 1.8
UAE Dirham 0.2 0.1 – – 0.3
Egyptian Pound – 0.1 – – 0.1
Philippine Peso – 0.2 – 0.1 0.3
Qatar Riyal – 0.4 – – 0.4
Bahraini Dinar – 0.1 – – 0.1
Saudi Riyal (0.1) (0.3) (0.2) (0.1) (0.7)
Russian Rouble – 0.8 – – 0.8
Total 0.1 2.0 0.7 0.3 3.1
The amounts in the table take into account the effect of forward currency contracts entered into to manage currency exposures.
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
(f) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
In the Directors’ opinion, the carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities, excluding derivative financial instruments analysed
below, represents the ‘fair value’ of such assets and liabilities.

Book Fair Book Fair
value value value value
2006 2006 2005 2005

£m £m £m £m

Derivative financial instruments held to hedge the currency exposure on expected future sales:
Forward foreign currency contract – 0.2 – (0.6)

Summary of methods and assumptions
Finance leases, cumulative preference The fair value has been taken as the book value as the difference is not considered 
shares and provisions material.

Bank loans The fair value of bank loans approximates to the carrying value reported in the balance
sheet as they are at floating rate where payments are reset to market rates at intervals of
less than one year.

Cash and bank overdrafts The fair value of cash and bank overdrafts approximates to the carrying amount because
of the short maturity of these instruments.

Forward foreign currency contracts Fair value is normally based on market price of comparable instruments at the balance
sheet date.

Interest rate derivatives Fair value is normally based on market price of comparable instruments at the balance
sheet date.

(g) Hedges
As explained on page 64, the Group’s policy is to hedge against currency risk using forward currency contracts. The Group also
hedges a proportion of its interest rate exposure.

As shown in the table below, the Group had an unrecognized gain of £0.2 million (2005: unrecognized loss £0.6 million) at the
year end in respect of forward currency contracts entered into on 30 November 2004 and 4 January 2005. These contracts were
taken out to hedge against exposed currency risk for a long-term project on Sakhalin Island. The forward contracts outstanding at
31 December 2006 involve selling a total of US$11.8 million in exchange for sterling and US$1.1 million in exchange for Euros at
various value dates between January 2007 and June 2007. There were no material gains or losses relating to the interest rate
derivative instruments.

Unrecognized: Deferred:
Total net Total net 

gains/ gains/
Gains Losses (losses) Gains Losses (losses)

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Gains and losses on hedges at 1 January 2006 – (0.6) (0.6) – (0.2) (0.2)
Gains arising in the year 0.2 0.6 0.8 – 0.2 0.2
Gains and losses on hedges at 31 December 2006 0.2 – 0.2 – – –

(h) Financial instruments held for trading purposes
The Group does not trade in financial instruments.

24 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Group
2006 2005

£m £m

Capital expenditure authorized but not provided for in these accounts against which orders 
have been placed 1.2 1.4
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25 COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

Group
2006 2005

£m £m

Land and buildings
Annual commitments under operating leases expiring:
Within one year 0.1 0.1
Between one year and five years 0.3 0.3
After five years 0.3 0.2

0.7 0.6
Other
Annual commitments under operating leases expiring:
Within one year 0.1 0.2
Between one year and five years 0.2 0.3

0.3 0.5

26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(i) There is a history of industrial disease claims being lodged against the Group for a number of years. Where the Group has

determined that it is appropriate to do so, settlement has been made. Based on this experience, it is likely that similar claims
will continue to be received for the foreseeable future. However, there is significant uncertainty over the number, nature,
timing and validity of such future claims. This is as a result of, inter alia, uncertainties concerning the population that may
have been exposed to asbestos and that may develop asbestos-related diseases, the nature and timing of the diseases that
may develop, the impact of other factors which might have contributed to the claimant’s condition, changes in the legal
environment and to the typical cost of settlement. These factors affect considerations of liability and the quantum of
settlements. Experience to date is that some of these claims will be at least partially covered by insurance policies but the
amount of cover will not be known until the details of the claims are available.

In order to provide for the long-term financing of a great majority of all future asbestos-related claims likely to be made
successfully against the Group, Cape has put in place the Scheme, details of which are set out in Note 27. The Scheme
became effective in relation to Cape PLC and 12 of its wholly owned subsidiaries on 14 June 2006. The Scheme companies
are listed in Note 27.

For the purposes of the Scheme, the Directors commissioned independent actuaries to review and provide an estimate of
certain of the Group’s unpaid and uninsured UK asbestos-related claims as at 31 December 2004. Estimates of unpaid
asbestos-related claims are inherently uncertain. Although the review did not take account of all potential claims against the
Group, it covers, in the opinion of the Directors, the overwhelming majority of all UK asbestos-related claims likely to be made
against the Group. The actuaries’ best estimate of the aggregate projected discounted value, net of insurance recoveries, of
the unpaid UK asbestos-related claims they reviewed is £119.4 million. This estimate is contained within a range of low and
high estimates of £70.2 million and £240.3 million respectively, although there can be no certainty that the total cost of such
claims will fall within the range of such estimates. The discount rate applied is 5 per cent. Claims not covered by the review
include, inter alia, overseas claims and certain potential claims for reimbursement from insurers and others. 

Given the wide range of the estimates and the significant degree of uncertainty surrounding them, the Directors take the
view that the amount of the Group’s overall obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Accordingly, the Group
provides in the profit and loss account each period for the estimated liability in respect of industrial disease claims lodged and
outstanding at the period end. The accounting treatment of claims lodged and outstanding has not been changed as a result
of the implementation of the Scheme. Upon consolidation the potential liability shown in the Group Balance Sheet remains
unchanged as a result of the implementation of the Scheme. However, the effect of the Scheme is to protect the Group to a
significant extent from the risks of insolvency of the Scheme companies if there is a significant increase in either the number
of claims or the quantum of damages or costs the Group has to settle or a material deterioration in the Group’s trading
performance which would otherwise have caused the Group to be unable to settle Scheme claims payable by it in full.
Nevertheless, if it were possible to assess reliably the present value of amounts that might be paid in future settlements such
that this was to be provided in the Balance Sheet, there would be a materially adverse effect on the Group’s financial position.
There is great uncertainty over the net present value of the future claim settlements. These could occur over a period of more 
than 40 years. However, in aggregate they are likely to exceed the amount of the net assets included in the current Group
Balance Sheet. Based on the recent history of settlements, the Directors anticipate that, assuming there is no material 
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deterioration in the Group’s trading performance nor a significant increase in either the number of asbestos-related claims or
the quantum of damages or costs the Group has to settle, nor any significant shortfall in the recoveries that the Directors
expect the Group to make from its insurers and under third party indemnities and the Scheme fund achieves investment
returns in line with current expectations, the Group will be able to ensure that (i) its newly formed subsidiary Cape Claims
Services Limited (‘CCS’) will be sufficiently funded to satisfy all Scheme claims and (ii) the Group will be sufficiently funded to
satisfy any UK asbestos-related claims falling outside the Scheme. Should the future pattern as regards timing and quantum of
claims prove to be materially and adversely different from the historic trend, there could be a material adverse effect on the
Group’s financial position. 

(ii) The Company was the defendant in proceedings brought by some 7,500 South African residents who claimed that they
suffered injury as the result of mining activities in South Africa undertaken by former subsidiaries of Cape PLC. The Company
entered into an agreement on 13 March 2003 with the claimants in the group action and new claimants who had come
forward in 2002.

It is possible that claims could arise in the future from claimants who were not included in the group action, or who claim
they have developed an asbestos related disease since the date of the settlement and as a result of the Group’s former mining
activities in South Africa. There is a significant uncertainty as to whether such future claims will be made and as to the
number, nature, timing and validity of such claims. However, no such claims have been received to date.

(iii) Certain companies in the Group continue to be named, along with several asbestos fibre and asbestos product suppliers, as
defendants in a number of legal actions in North America. The plaintiffs in such actions are claiming substantial damages as a
result of the use of these products. The Company has received legal advice in the UK that default judgments obtained in
North America against Companies within the Group which are not present in North America, would not be enforceable in the
UK. Consequently the Directors believe that the above-mentioned matters are unlikely to have a material effect on the
Group’s financial position.

(iv) The Company’s subsidiary, Cape Industrial Services Limited, together with other companies involved in offshore contracting
work, is a defendant in proceedings before the Employment Tribunal under the Working Time Regulations 1998 brought by a
small number of employees claiming that their paid annual leave should be taken from scheduled working time. If successful,
the claimants (and other affected employees who are not party to the proceedings) could be entitled to compensation. Under
the terms of certain of its contracts, Cape Industrial Services Limited would be entitled to additional payment from its clients.
There is significant uncertainty as to whether the claimants will succeed and, if they do, as to the number of affected
employees, the amount of any compensation that would be awarded and the extent to which it could be recovered under
relevant contracts.

(v) There are a number of leasehold properties in respect of which the Group is liable for dilapidations, and rent in the event of
default by its sub-tenants. Given the nature of these arrangements it is difficult to assess the potential liability with certainty
and as a consequence contingent liabilities may exist. The Directors believe that any such contingent amounts would not have
a material effect on the Group’s financial position.

(vi) The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees and bonds entered into in the normal course of business, in
respect of which no loss is expected.

27 THE SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT
On 14 June 2006, the Scheme became effective and binding upon Cape PLC and the following 12 of its wholly owned subsidiaries:
Cape Building Products Limited
Cape Calsil Systems Limited
Cape Contracts International Limited
Cape Durasteel Limited
Cape East Limited
Cape Industrial Services Limited
Cape Industries Limited
Cape Insulation Limited
Cape Specialist Coatings Limited
Predart Limited
Somewatch Limited
Somewin Limited
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27 THE SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT CONTINUED
The detailed terms of the Scheme are set out in the Scheme itself, a copy of which has been filed with the Registrar of
Companies, the Articles of Association of Cape and CCS and a number of other ancillary agreements. The effect of the Scheme
as a whole can be summarized as follows:

(a) While Scheme creditors retain their rights against Scheme companies, and may bring proceedings against Scheme companies
for declaratory relief to determine whether they have a claim and, if so, of what amount, their rights, subject as provided in
sub paragraphs (k) and (m) are only enforceable against CCS under the terms of the Scheme guarantee;

(b) CCS has been funded in the first instance with a sum of £40 million which represents what is considered to be a sufficient
sum to discharge CCS’s liabilities to Scheme creditors which become payable over at least 8 years from 1 January 2006. 
The use of these funds is restricted to the payment of established Scheme claims and Scheme creditor costs;

(c) The sum of £40 million has not been calculated by reference to an estimate of the likely amount of Scheme claims. It simply
represents the aggregate of the amount that the Company was able to raise from its shareholders and the level of debt which
the Company can reasonably maintain for the purposes of the Scheme. Of fundamental importance to the Scheme are the
provisions as to topping up of that sum described below;

(d) Commencing in 2008, every three years there will be an assessment of the projected Scheme claims against Scheme
companies payable by CCS over the following nine years, by reference to which there will be established the Funding
Requirement;

(e) In the event that an assessment reveals a shortfall between the Scheme assets and the Funding Requirement, the Company
will top up CCS’s funding over the following three years provided that sufficient cash is available, Cape’s obligation being
limited to 70 per cent of the Group’s consolidated adjusted operational cash flow (including, for example, adjustments to take
account of acquisitions, an element of capital expenditure and repayment of borrowing facilities); 

(f) Should the Company not be able to meet its top up obligation in any one year, it will be required to make good the shortfall
in the next year, again subject to sufficient cash being available;

(g) Alongside the Funding Requirement there is the Scheme Funding Requirement which will be assessed every year by reference
to projected Scheme claims against Scheme companies payable by CCS over the next six years;

(h) If at any time the ratio of the Scheme assets to the Scheme Funding Requirement (the Scheme Funding Percentage) falls
below 60 per cent, CCS will have the ability to reduce the percentage (the Payment Percentage) of each established claim
which it pays to Scheme creditors until such time as the Scheme Funding Percentage is restored to 60 per cent;

(i) Commencing in 2008, Cape will be permitted to pay dividends provided that at the time of payment (i) the Scheme Funding
Percentage in relation to the last preceding financial year was certified to be not less than 110 per cent, (ii) the Directors of
Cape certify that they anticipate that the Scheme Funding Percentage for the current and following financial year will be not
less than 110 per cent and (iii) the Payment Percentage has not at any time within the previous 40 business days been below
100 per cent. Any distribution which Cape proposes to make to its shareholders may not, without the consent of the Scheme
Shareholder, exceed the greater of (i) 50 per cent of the consolidated operating profits of the Group for the last preceding
Financial Year and (ii) the aggregate of any permitted dividends made in the preceding financial year. This restriction therefore
places a cap on the amount of dividends that the Company may pay in any one year;

(j) There have been established special voting shares (the Scheme Shares) in CCS and Cape which are held by an independent
third party (the Scheme Shareholder) on trust for Scheme creditors. The Scheme Shares have special rights which are designed
to enable the Scheme Shareholder to protect the interests of Scheme creditors;

(k) In the case of certain Scheme creditors (Recourse Scheme Creditors), who are those Scheme creditors whose claims are in
whole or in part the subject of a contract of insurance (Recourse Scheme Claims) their rights to enforce their Recourse
Scheme Claims against a relevant Scheme company will revive in certain circumstances. These circumstances are where the
relevant Scheme company is insolvent or where there has been a specified reduction in the Payment Percentage and if the
Scheme creditor was able to bring about the insolvency of the relevant Scheme company he would be able to recover greater
compensation from the FSCS (‘Financial Services Compensation Scheme’) or, in certain circumstances, from a solvent insurer
than is available from CCS at that time under the Scheme. There will be a specified reduction if either (i) the Payment
Percentage has been reduced below 100 per cent but above 50 per cent and the Scheme creditor has not been paid in full
after 12 months or (ii) the Payment Percentage is reduced to 50 per cent or below;
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(l) Each Scheme company will agree to hold on trust for any Scheme creditor concerned the proceeds of any policy of insurance

(or any compensation received from the FSCS) referable to that Scheme claim;

(m)The restriction described in sub paragraph (a) above will not apply to proceedings to enforce the right conferred under 
sub-paragraph (l) above; and

(n) There are provisions contained in two reimbursement agreements which preserve certain rights of proof by CCS and Cape
respectively in any insolvency of Cape or any of the other Scheme companies.

28 PENSIONS
The Group operates two major pension schemes in the UK, one is of the defined benefit type and the other of the defined
contribution type. The assets of the defined benefit scheme are held in trustee administered funds. The latest valuation of the
defined benefit scheme was assessed by independent qualified actuaries as at 6 April 2004, using the projected unit method. The
main actuarial assumptions adopted in the valuation were that over the long-term the annual investment return would be 1.25%
higher than general earnings inflation and 3% higher than the annual increase in present and future pensions. The valuation
showed that the defined benefit scheme had a market value of £97.5 million and was 104% funded.

The pension expense in the period for the defined contribution pension scheme of £0.5 million (2005: £0.4 million) equalled the
Group contributions to the scheme. Pensions for employees of overseas companies are provided in accordance with local
requirements and practices.

The defined benefit scheme disclosures of the Group in this note also include figures relating to a small scheme held by a
subsidiary undertaking.

The Group and Company continue to fully adopt the arrangements of FRS 17. As a result the most recent full actuarial valuations
referred to above were updated to 31 December 2006 and adjusted by qualified independent actuaries for the assumptions used
as specified below:

Group and Company
As at 31 December 2006 2005 2004

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 3.90% 3.90% 3.90%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.00% 2.90% 2.90%
Discount rate 5.10% 4.70% 5.30%
Inflation 3.00% 2.90% 2.90%

Funded status and expected return on assets
The assets in the pension schemes and the expected annual rate of return (net of investment management expenses) as at 
31 December were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Group Note % p.a. £m % p.a. £m % p.a. £m

Equities 7.85% 41.5 7.00% 44.7 7.50% 44.5
Bonds 4.60% 66.7 4.04% 71.0 4.52% 60.0
Cash 5.25% 10.0 – – – –
Total market value of assets 118.2 115.7 104.5
Present value of scheme liabilities (102.7) (108.2) (99.3)
Surplus in the schemes 15.5 7.5 5.2
Related deferred tax liability 15 (4.6) (2.2) (1.6)
Net pension asset 10.9 5.3 3.6
Company
Equities 7.85% 40.8 7.00% 44.1 7.50% 43.2
Bonds 4.60% 66.4 4.52% 70.5 4.52% 60.1
Cash 5.25% 9.9 – – – –
Total market value of assets 117.1 114.6 103.3
Present value of scheme liabilities (101.6) (106.7) (98.0)
Surplus in the schemes 15.5 7.9 5.3
Related deferred tax liability 15 (4.6) (2.4) (1.6)
Net pension asset 10.9 5.5 3.7
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Analysis of amount charged to operating profit

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Year to 31 December £m £m £m £m

Current service cost 0.8 0.9 0.8 0.9
Exceptional item – Settlements for discontinued scheme 0.6 – 0.6 –
Total charge 1.4 0.9 1.4 0.9

Analysis of amount credited to other finance income
Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
Year to 31 December £m £m £m £m

Expected return on pension scheme assets 5.8 5.9 5.7 5.9
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (4.9) (5.1) (4.9) (5.1)
Net return 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.8

Analysis of amount in statement of total recognized gains and losses
Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 2.5 8.9 2.5 8.9
Experience gain/(loss) arising on the scheme liabilities 0.3 (0.1) – –
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabilities 4.9 (7.2) 4.9 (7.0)
Actuarial gain in statement of total recognized gains and losses 7.7 1.6 7.4 1.9

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

£m £m £m £m

Movement in surplus during the year
Surplus in the scheme at the beginning of the year 7.5 5.2 7.9 5.3
Movement in the year:
Service cost (0.8) (0.9) (0.8) (0.9)
Contributions paid 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8
Impact of settlements and curtailments (0.6) – (0.6) –
Other finance income 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.8
Actuarial gain 7.7 1.6 7.4 1.9
Surplus in the scheme at the end of the year 15.5 7.5 15.5 7.9

Group
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

History of experience gains and losses
Difference between the actual and 

expected return on scheme assets:
Amount (£m) 2.5 8.9 4.1 5.4 (16.1)
Percentage of scheme assets 2.1 7.7 3.9 5.3 (16.9)
Experience gains and losses on 

scheme liabilities:
Amount (£m) 0.3 (0.1) 0.5 – 0.7
Percentage of scheme liabilities 0.3 – 0.5 – 0.8
Total amount recognized in statement of 

total recognized gains and losses:
Amount (£m) 7.7 1.6 (5.6) 0.6 (15.4)
Percentage of scheme liabilities 7.5 1.5 5.6 0.7 (18.2)
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Company
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

History of experience gains and losses
Difference between the actual and 

expected return on scheme assets:
Amount (£m) 2.5 8.9 4.0 5.4 (16.1)
Percentage of scheme assets 2.1 7.7 3.8 5.3 (16.9)
Experience gains and losses on 

scheme liabilities:
Amount (£m) – – 0.6 – 0.7
Percentage of scheme liabilities – – 0.6 – 0.8
Total amount recognized in statement of 

total recognized gains and losses:
Amount (£m) 7.4 1.9 (5.4) 0.6 (15.4)
Percentage of scheme liabilities 7.3 1.8 5.6 0.7 (18.2)

One of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Netherlands operated two defined benefit schemes. Both of these schemes have been
transferred out as a result of the disposal of the trade and business assets of the subsidiary. The pension expense in the year for
these two schemes was £0.3 million (2005: £0.6 million).

29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under FRS 8 not to disclose any transactions or balances between
Group entities that have been eliminated on consolidation. Other related party transactions are detailed below.

During the year £160,000 (2005: £102,000) was paid to M&J Associates (1953) Limited for management services provided by
Martin May, a Director, in connection with his duties as a Director of Cape PLC.

During the year Cape Perlite Systems, a 51% joint venture undertaking purchased goods totalling £nil (2005: £nil) from the
Group. There was a £0.2 million balance (2005: £0.2 million) owed by Cape Perlite Systems at the year end.

There have been no other material transactions with related parties during the year.

30 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
On 23 April 2007, Cape’s shareholders approved the placing by Collins Stewart Europe Limited of 26,923,077 Ordinary Shares of
25p each at a placing price of £2.60 per share raising approximately £70 million before expenses. The placing price represented a
discount of approximately 3.2 per cent to the closing middle market price of an Ordinary Share on 21 March 2007, the day
before the placing was announced. The placing shares represented approximately 32.2 per cent of the Company’s issued share
capital immediately prior to the Placing. 

Accordingly, the authorized and issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this document is as follows.

2007
(a) Authorized £m

153,600,000 ordinary shares of 25p each 38.4
250,000 3.5% cumulative preference shares of £1 each 0.3
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each 4.3
1 PLC scheme share of £1 –

43.0

2007
(b) Called up, fully paid and allotted £m

110,466,087 ordinary shares of 25p each 27.6
250,000 3.5% cumulative preference shares of £1 each 0.3
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each 4.3
1 PLC scheme share of £1 –

32.2
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Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT Notes £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover (i)
Continuing operations 274.2 229.8 238.9 228.3 191.7
Discontinued operations 21.5 32.0 – 3.6 33.1
Group turnover 295.7 261.8 238.9 231.9 224.8
Group operating profit/(loss) before exceptional items
Continuing operations 13.3 7.8 5.8 3.6 5.0
Discontinued operations 0.2 0.3 – (0.1) (0.6)

13.5 8.1 5.8 3.5 4.4
Share of operating profit/(loss) in joint ventures
Continuing operations 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.1
Discontinued operations – – – – (0.2)

0.1 0.2 0.4 0.3 (0.1)
Operating exceptional items
Continuing operations 1.0 (9.7) (1.1) (0.4) 10.5
Discontinued operations – – – 0.9 2.5

1.0 (9.7) (1.1) 0.5 13.0
Total operating profit/(loss): group and share of joint ventures
Continuing operations 14.4 (1.7) 5.1 3.5 15.6
Discontinued operations 0.2 0.3 – 0.8 1.7

14.6 (1.4) 5.1 4.3 17.3
Non operating exceptional items
Continuing operations – 0.3 – – –
Discontinued operations (0.7) – 0.5 1.7 (3.3)

(0.7) 0.3 0.5 1.7 (3.3)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before interest 13.9 (1.1) 5.6 6.0 14.0
Net interest payable (0.4) (0.7) (1.0) (1.4) (1.7)
Other finance income (ii) 0.9 0.8 1.2 0.9 2.3
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 14.4 (1.0) 5.8 5.5 14.6
Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities (3.1) 1.0 – 0.4 (0.3)
Profit for the year 11.3 – 5.8 5.9 14.3
Compensation for industrial disease (iii) (3.4) (4.6) (3.7) (3.8) (2.4)
Earnings per ordinary share – Basic 13.5p 0.0p 10.7p 10.9p 26.2p
Dividend per ordinary share 0.0p 0.0p 0.0p 0.0p 0.0p
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Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

BALANCE SHEET Note £m £m £m £m £m

Employment of capital
Fixed assets 47.1 30.2 23.9 22.5 30.9
Pension asset 10.9 5.3 3.6 7.4 7.3
Other net assets/(liabilities) 4.0 5.0 5.8 5.2 5.2

62.0 40.5 33.3 35.1 43.4
Capital employed
Capital and reserves 81.0 64.2 30.9 29.7 24.1
Net (funds)/borrowings (19.0) (23.7) 2.4 5.4 19.3

62.0 40.5 33.3 35.1 43.4
Net assets per ordinary share (iv) 97p 78p 57p 55p 44p
Notes:
(i) Turnover includes the Group’s share of the turnover of joint ventures.

(ii) Other finance income is ‘deemed’ income from return on pension asset.

(iii) Compensation for industrial disease represents amounts charged to the profit and loss account. It is before additional
operating exceptional items relating to the South African litigation.

(iv) Net assets per ordinary share has been calculated on the basis of deferred shares having no value.
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
as at 31 December 2006

DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND ADVISERS

D McManus 1234
Non-Executive Chairman

MK May 
Chief Executive

MT Reynolds
Group Finance Director

DA Robins 12345
Non-Executive Director

SS O’Connor 1234
Non-Executive Director

1 Non-Executive
2 Audit Committee
3 Remuneration Committee
4 Nomination Committee
5 Senior Independent

Non-Executive Director

BW Whitworth
Group Company Secretary

REGISTERED OFFICE 
Cape House
3 Red Hall Avenue 
Paragon Business Village
Wakefield WF1 2UL

Cape PLC is a company
registered in England and
Wales

Registered Number: 40203

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Benson House
33 Wellington Street
Leeds LS1 4JP

SOLICITORS 
DLA Piper UK LLP
Princes Exchange
Princes Square
Leeds LS1 4BY

BANKERS
Barclays Bank PLC 
1 Churchill Place
London E14 5HP 

Bank of Scotland
116 Wellington Street
Leeds LS1 4LT

REGISTRARS
Capita Registrars 
The Registry
Beckenham Road 
Beckenham
Kent BR3 4TU

NOMINATED ADVISER
AND STOCKBROKER 
Collins Stewart Europe Limited 
88 Wood Street
London EC2V 7QR

CAPE INDUSTRIAL SERVICES LIMITED 
Chief Executive Martin May 
Telephone +44 (0)1924 871000

The provision of specialized services to major industrial groups
in the UK and internationally, primarily in the energy sector.
Services include: scaffolding, insulation, specialist coatings, 
fire protection, refractory linings, industrial and specialist
cleaning, inspection and other associated services including
asbestos removal.

Wakefield
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in the UK.

St Albans
Co-ordination of international industrial services activities.

Cape Industrial Services Limited has overseas branches located
in Ireland, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and New Caledonia.

CAPE EAST EC (INCORPORATING RB HILTON LIMITED) 
Bahrain
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in the Middle East.

CAPE EAST PRIVATE LIMITED
Singapore
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in the Asia 
Pacific region.

DBI INDUSTRIAL SERVICES LIMITED
Paisley, Scotland
Specialist industrial cleaning in the UK.

Notes:
1 The subsidiary undertakings listed are those whose results,

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
profit or assets of the Group. The subsidiary undertakings
operate principally in the countries in which they are
incorporated.

2 The subsidiary undertakings listed are wholly but indirectly
owned.

3 Of the subsidiary undertakings listed, Cape Industrial Services
Limited, RB Hilton Limited, DBI Industrial Services Limited are
incorporated and registered in England and Wales.

4 There are no subsidiary undertakings that have been
excluded from the consolidation.
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OTHER SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
as at 31 December 2006

The following companies’ ultimate parent Company is Cape PLC:

UK
Cape Building Products Limited
Cape Calsil Group Limited
Cape Calsil International Limited
Cape Calsil Systems Limited
Cape Claims Services Limited
Cape East Limited
Cape East (UK) Limited
Cape Industrial Services Europe Limited
Cape Industrial Services Group Limited
Cape Overseas Limited
Cape Perlite Systems Limited
DBI Group Limited
DBI Offshore Services Limited
Predart Limited

UK DORMANT
Altitude Scaffolding Limited 
Aspectadd Limited
Capasco Limited
Cape Boards Limited 
Cape Calsil Limited
Cape Claddings Limited
Cape Contracts Limited
Cape Contracts International Limited
Cape Contracts Overseas Limited 
Cape Defined Pension Trustees Limited
Cape Durasteel Limited 
Cape Environmental Services Limited 
Cape Estates Limited 
Cape Fire Protection Products Limited
Cape Hire Limited
Cape Industrial Services Holdings Limited
Cape Industrial Services (Scotland) Limited
Cape Industrial Training Services Limited
Cape Industries Limited 
Cape Insulation Limited 
Cape Industrial Products Limited
Cape Insulation Products Limited
Cape Mechanical Insulation Limited
Cape Mechanical Services Limited 
Cape Offshore Services Limited
Cape Painting Contractors Limited 
Cape Pension Trustees Limited
Cape Scaffolding Limited
Cape Specialist Coatings Limited
Cape Security Services Limited
CISG Limited
Darlington Insulation Company Limited
Datadeep Limited
Duffy & McGovern Maintenance
Services Limited
HPC Coatings Limited 
Investable Limited
Joseph Nadin Limited 
Kennedy’s Scaffolding Limited

Maintenance Insulation Limited
RB Hilton Refractories Limited
RBH Limited
Somewatch Limited 
Somewin Limited
Stockfocal Limited
T.A.P. Ceilings Limited 
Wildboost Limited
Winfield Insulation Services Limited

INTERNATIONAL
Algeria
Cape East Algeria S.A.R.L

Australia
Cape Industrial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd
Cape Contracts International (WA) Pty Ltd

Bahrain
Orascom Cape WLL

Brunei
Cape International Sdn Bhd

Cayman Islands
Cape Cayman (No.2) Ltd

Egypt
Cape East Egypt LLC

India
Cape Industrial Services Private Ltd

Indonesia
PT Cape East Meiso Ltd

Kazakhstan
Cape Kazakhstan LLC

Kuwait
Cape East General Contracting
Company LLC

Malaysia
Cape East Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Malta
Cape East (Malta) Limited
Cape East Libya Limited

Oman
Cape East & Partners LLC

Philippines
Cape East Philippines Inc.

Russia
Cape Industrial Services LLC
Cape Industrial Services (Sakhalin) LLC

Saudi Arabia
RB Hilton Saudi Arabia Ltd 
Cape Industrial Services Ltd

Thailand
Cape East (Holdings) Ltd 
Cape East (Thailand) Ltd

UAE
Cape East LLC

INTERNATIONAL DORMANT
Belgium
Cape Calsil Belgium SPRL
Cleton Insulation Belgium NV

France
Cape France Holdings SARL 
Cape Calsil France SA

Germany
Cape Boards Siborit GmbH
Cape Entsorgungs-technik GmbH 
Minora Luneburg GmbH
CSP GmbH
Cape Calsil Deutshland GmbH
Cleton Isolierungen GmbH

Hong Kong
Cape Asia Pacific Ltd

Malaysia
Cape Asia Pacific Sdn Bhd

Netherlands
Cleton Insulation BV
Cleton Maintenance BV 
Cape Milieutechniek BV 
Cape Netherlands BV
Cape Marine & Offshore BV

Singapore
Cape Asia Pacific Pte Ltd

Spain
Cape Ailsamientos S.L
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the one hundred and fourteenth
Annual General Meeting of Cape PLC (‘Company’) will be held
at the offices of Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP at Adelaide
House, London Bridge, London EC4R 9HA on 28 June 2007 
at 11.30 am when the following business will be considered:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions,
each of which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

Resolution 1
To receive the Company’s annual accounts for the financial
year ended 31 December 2006 together with the Directors’
report and auditors’ report on those accounts.

Resolution 2
To reappoint Mr MT Reynolds, who retires by rotation, as a
Director of the Company.

Resolution 3
To reappoint Mr DA Robins, who has been appointed by the
Board since the last Annual General Meeting, as a Director of
the Company.

Resolution 4
To reappoint Mr SS O’Connor, who has been appointed by the
Board since the last Annual General Meeting, as a Director of
the Company.

Resolution 5
To reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the
Company, to hold office from the conclusion of the meeting
until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which
accounts are laid before the Company.

Resolution 6
To authorize the Directors to set the auditors’ remuneration.

Resolution 7
To approve the Company sending or supplying any documents
or information to members by making them available on a
website for the purposes of paragraph 10(2) of schedule 5 to
the Companies Act 2006 and otherwise.

Resolution 8
That the Cape PLC 2007 Performance Share Plan, a summary
of the principal provisions of which is set out on pages 28 to
30 of the Directors’ Report contained in the Company’s Annual
Report and Accounts 2006, be and is hereby approved and
adopted and that the Directors be and are hereby authorized
to do all acts and things necessary to establish and carry it 
into effect. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following
resolutions as special resolutions:

Resolution 9
To amend to the Company’s articles of association as follows:

(i) in Articles 161.2.1, 161.2.2 and 161.2.3, by inserting the
words ‘of the Company or any associated company’
immediately after each occurrence therein of the words
‘alternate Director’; and

(ii) in Article 161.2.3 by inserting the words ‘and/or associated
company’ in the first and fifth lines of such article, in each
case, immediately after the words after ‘officer of the
Company’.

Resolution 10
That, pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act 1985
(‘Act’) and in substitution for all existing authorities under that
section, the Directors be and are generally and unconditionally
authorized to exercise all powers of the Company to allot
relevant securities (within the meaning of section 80 of the
Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £9,205,507,
provided that (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed)
this authority shall expire 15 months after the date of the
passing of this resolution or at the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company, whichever is sooner,
save that the Company may make an offer or agreement
before the expiry of this authority which would or might
require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and
the Directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to any such
offer or agreement as if the authority conferred by this
resolution had not expired.
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Resolution 11
Subject to the passing of resolution 10, pursuant to section
95(1) of the Act, and in substitution for all existing authorities
under that section, the Directors be and are generally
empowered to allot equity securities (within the meaning of
section 94(2) of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority
conferred by resolution 10 above as if section 89(1) of the Act
did not apply to such allotment, provided that such power
shall be limited to:

(i) the allotment of equity securities in connection with an
offer (whether by way of a rights issue, open offer or
otherwise) to the holders of ordinary shares in the capital
of the Company in proportion (as nearly as practicable) to
the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them,
subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the
Directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements, or any legal or practical problems
under the laws of any territory or the requirements of any
regulatory body or stock exchange;

(ii) the allotment of equity securities for cash (otherwise than
pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above) up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £1,380,826 (representing 5% of 
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company at 
22 May 2007),

and (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) shall expire
15 months after the date of the passing of this resolution or at
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company, whichever is sooner, save that the Company may
make an offer or agreement before the expiry of this power
which would or might require equity securities to be allotted
for cash after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity
securities for cash pursuant to any such offer or agreement as
if the power conferred by this resolution had not expired.

Resolution 12
That the Company be and is generally and unconditionally
authorized for the purposes of section 166 of the Act to make
one or more market purchases (within the meaning of section
163(3) of the Act) on the London Stock Exchange of ordinary
shares of 25 pence each in the capital of the Company
provided that:

(i) the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares
authorized to be purchased is £2,761,652 (representing 
10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital); 

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for such shares is
25 pence per share;

(iii) the maximum price which may be paid for an ordinary
share shall not be more than 5% above the average of the
middle market quotations for an ordinary share as derived
from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the
five business days immediately preceding the date on
which the ordinary share is purchased; 

(iv) unless previously renewed, varied or revoked, the authority
conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s
next AGM or 15 months from the date of passing this
resolution, if earlier; and 

(v) the Company may make a contract or contracts to
purchase ordinary shares under the authority conferred
prior to the expiry of such authority which will or may be
executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority
and may make a purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance
of any such contract or contracts. 

By order of the Board
BW Whitworth 
Secretary
22 May 2007

Registered Office:
Cape House
3 Red Hall Avenue
Paragon Business Village 
Wakefield
WF1 2UL

Registered Number: 40203
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED

Notes:
1. This notice is sent for information only to the holders of

share options.

2. The Company, pursuant to Regulation 41 of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, specifies that
only those members registered in the register of members
of the Company as at 11.30 am on 26 June 2007 or, 
in the event that the meeting is adjourned, in the register
of members 48 hours before the time of any adjourned
meeting shall be entitled to attend or vote at the meeting
in respect of the number of shares registered in their name
at that time. Changes to entries in the register of members
made after 11.30 am on 26 June 2007 or, in the event
that the meeting is adjourned, after the time which falls 
48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting shall
be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to
attend or vote at the meeting.

3. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on
a poll, vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member
of the Company. The appointment of a proxy will not
preclude a member from attending and voting in person at
the meeting if he so wishes.

4. A proxy form is enclosed. To be valid, it must be deposited
at the offices of the Company’s registrars, Capita
Registrars, at The Proxy Processing Centre, Telford Road,
Bicester OX26 4LD, by 11.30 am on 26 June 2007 
(or, in the event that the meeting is adjourned, no later
than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting).

5. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who
tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, will be
accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint
holders and for this purpose seniority will be determined by
the order in which the names stand in the register of
members of the Company in respect of the relevant joint
holding.

6. The Company has not entered into a service contract of
more than one year’s duration with any Director or with
provisions for predetermined compensation on termination
of an amount which equals or exceeds one year’s salary
and benefits in kind.

7. The following information is available for inspection during
normal business hours at the registered office of the
Company (excluding weekends and public holidays). It will
also be available for inspection at the place of the Annual
General Meeting from 9.30 am on the day of the meeting
until the conclusion of the meeting:
(a) the register of interests of Directors and their connected

persons in the share capital of the Company; and
(b) copies of the Directors’ service contracts.

8. Biographical details of each of the Directors offering
himself for re-election at the meeting are set out on 
page 24.



Photograph, pages 8 and 9, BP
production platform, part of the Magnus
oil field, 110 miles north-east of Shetland
– reproduced by kind permission of 
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Contractors at Sakhalin LNG Project 1/2 
– reproduced by kind permission of 
Shell International.
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